Samart Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
1.
General information 
Samart Corporation Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand.  The Company is principally engaged in the design and installation of telecommunications systems, and the sales of telecommunications equipment. The registered office of the Company is at 99/1 Moo 4, Software Park Building, 35th Floor, Chaengwattana Road, Klong Gluar, Pak-Kred, Nonthaburi.

2.
Basis of preparation
2.1
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 11 October 2016, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.

2.2
Basis of consolidation

a)
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Samart Corporation Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiary companies (“the subsidiaries”):
Subsidiaries directly held by the Company
	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	Country of incorporation
	Percentage of shareholding                 (direct and indirect)

	
	
	
	2019
	2018

	
	
	
	Percent
	Percent

	The Samart Engineering            Co., Ltd.
	Manufacture and distribution of television and radio antenna and satellite dishes as well as the provision of Broadcast Network Solutions
	Thailand
	100
	100

	Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd.                 
	Provision of system integrator for transportation energy and utilities system 
	Thailand
	100
	100

	Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.
	Provision of designation and installation of telecommunications and communication network including sale of communication equipment and computer distribution.
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Samart Digital Public            Co., Ltd. 
	Distribution of communication and providing integrated business
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd.  
	Provision of customer contact center services
	Thailand
	69.18
	69.18

	Vision and Security System Co., Ltd.
	Provide services, sale, installation of security system, audio and video conference, wire and wireless communication system
	Thailand
	73
	73

	Suvarnabhumi Environment Care Co., Ltd.   
	Temporarily ceased its business 
	Thailand
	90
	90

	Samart RadiTech Co., Ltd.
	Provision of nuclear technology services and use of radiation for commercial purposes
	Thailand
	100
	100

	Cambodia Samart Co., Ltd. (The Company has control over this company’s operations)
	Leasing its freehold land to third parties in Cambodia
	Cambodia
	49
	49

	Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd. 
	The holding company for investing in public utilities in the Indochina region
	Hong Kong
	100
	100


Indirect subsidiaries held by the Company’s subsidiaries

	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	Country of incorporation
	Percentage of indirect shareholding

	
	
	
	2019
	2018

	
	
	
	Percent
	Percent

	Subsidiaries held by One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd.
	
	
	

	One to One Professional Co., Ltd.
	Provide company personnel to perform work regarding providing information, news and information center on-site and off-site and cleaning service
	Thailand
	69.18
	69.18

	One to One (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
	Provision of customer contact center services
	Cambodia
	69.18
	69.18

	Inno Hub Co., Ltd.
	Provision research and development related to software program, robot, equipment, tooling and artefact innovation
	Thailand
	69.18
	69.18

	Subsidiary held by Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Kampot Power Plant  Co., Ltd. 
	Sale the electricity to Bodaiju Residence Condominium in Phnom Penh by purchase electricity from Cambodia government
	Cambodia
	100
	100

	Subsidiary held by The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Contact-In-One Co., Ltd.
	Institute of telecommunication mechanic
	Thailand
	100
	100

	Subsidiaries held by Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Teda Co., Ltd.
	Engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) contractor and maintenance services for power substations and power transmission
	Thailand
	94.36
	94.36

	Samart U-Trans (Myanmar)             Co., Ltd. 
	Provide services and consultations regarding trades in Myanmar  
	Myanmar  
	100
	100

	Samart Green Energy Co., Ltd. 
	Provide municipal Solid Waste and Landfill Waste management by collecting, separating, Refused Derived Fuel (RDF) producing and convert waste to be electricity 
	Thailand
	100
	100

	Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “SAMART Transolutions                Co., Ltd.”)


(held by Samart U-trans Co., Ltd.: 66.67% and held by Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd.: 33.33%)
	Provide traffic control services and operate business related to all type of transportation electricity                           
	Thailand
	100
	100


	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	Country of incorporation
	Percentage of indirect shareholding

	
	
	
	2019
	2018

	
	
	
	Percent
	Percent

	Subsidiary held by Teda Co., Ltd.
	
	
	

	Transec Power Services Co., Ltd.
	Installation, commissioning and maintenance services for power substation and any high voltage systems
	Thailand
	94.36
	94.36

	Subsidiary held by Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd.
	
	

	Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd.                     
	Provision of air traffic control services in Cambodia
	Cambodia
	100
	100

	Subsidiaries held by Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Samart Communication Services Co., Ltd.
	Design and installation of communication network, public rural telephone project
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Posnet Co., Ltd.
	Electronic fund transfer
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Thai Trade Net Co., Ltd.
	Electronic data interchange
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Samart Comtech Co., Ltd.                            
	Design and installation of telecommunications network
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Smarterware Co., Ltd.
	Manufacture production of software packages and provision of software development services
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Samart Infonet Co., Ltd. 
	Provision for internet services
	Thailand
	69.86
	69.86

	Samart eD Tech Co., Ltd.
	E-Learning courseware development consultation 
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Portalnet Co., Ltd. 
	Design and installation of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system and fully integrate ERP solution for government and public sectors  
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Samart Broadband Services Co., Ltd. 
	Ceased its operation since 2008
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14

	Subsidiary held by Samart Communication Services Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	SLA Asia Co., Ltd.  


	Operate on installation of telecommunication network project
	Thailand
	63.13
	63.13

	Subsidiary held by Samart Broadband Services Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	IT Absolute Co., Ltd.
	Distribution of information system and communications equipment
	Thailand
	70.10
	70.10

	Subsidiaries held by Samart Comtech Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Net Service (Thailand)                 Co., Ltd. 
	Development of information technology system for government agencies and private companies  
	Thailand
	42.08
	42.08

	Secure Info Co., Ltd.                    
	Engage in cyber security services
	Thailand
	70.14
	70.14


In addition, these consolidated financial statements include transactions of the following consortium, in which Portalnet Co., Ltd is a participant:

	Name
	Objective
	Consortium Type
	Country of incorporation

	Consortium SPIES
	The leasing of an application software 
	Joint control
	Thailand

	
	for core business operations to the Provincial Electricity Authority
	
	


	Company’s name
	Nature of business
	Country of incorporation
	Percentage of indirect shareholding

	
	
	
	2019
	2018

	
	
	
	Percent
	Percent

	Subsidiaries held by Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd. 
	Provision content services via Audiotext and Call center
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	I-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd.                  
	Provision of wireless telecommunication business
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	Zecureasia Co., Ltd. 
	Distributor of mobile phones  
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	SIM2ASSET Co., Ltd. 
	Real estate agent services
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	Thai Base Station Co., Ltd. 
	Provision space rental and other services and distribution telecommunication equipment and system
	Thailand
	83.38
	83.38

	Samart Mobile Services Co., Ltd. 
	Temporarily ceased its business 
	Thailand
	81.21
	81.21

	Subsidiaries held by Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd. 
	

	
	
	

	I-Sport Co., Ltd.
	Provision of information of sports via full option interactive multimedia
	Thailand
	41.69
	41.69

	Entertainment Tree Co., Ltd.                          (2018: The Company has control and sets policies for operation and financial management over this company)
	Production, sale and provision of all kinds of entertainment-related content through multiple channels
	Thailand
	51.59
	37.52

	Subsidiaries held by I-Sport Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Siam Sport Television  Co., Ltd.
	TV media, sport license and sport-related business
	Thailand
	41.69
	41.69


b)
The Company is deemed to have control over an investee or subsidiaries if it has rights, or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it has the ability to direct the activities that affect the amount of its returns.

c)
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

d)
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same significant accounting policies as the Company.
e)
The assets and liabilities in the financial statements of overseas subsidiary companies are translated to Baht using the exchange rate prevailing on the end of reporting period, and revenues and expenses translated using monthly average exchange rates. The resulting differences are shown under the caption of “Exchange differences on translation of financial statements in foreign currencies” in the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

f)
Material balances and transactions between the Group have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. 

g)
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated profit and loss and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

h)
In recording the acquisition of ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control (repurchase of shares from non-controlling interests) when the carrying amount of the net assets acquired is lower than the cost of the investment, the difference has been presented in shareholders’ equity under the caption of “Deficit on changes in percentage of shareholding in subsidiaries”.  When the carrying amount of the net assets acquired is higher than the cost of the investment, the difference has been presented under the caption of “Surplus on changes in percentage of shareholding in subsidiaries”. 
2.3
The separate financial statements present investments in subsidiaries under the cost method.
3.
New financial reporting standards
a. 
Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year


During the period, the Group has adopted the revised (revised 2018) and new financial reporting standards and interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards. The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. However, the new standard involves changes to key principles, which are summarised below.
TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TFRS 15 supersedes the following accounting standards together with related interpretations.

	TAS 11 (revised 2017)
	Construction Contracts

	TAS 18 (revised 2017)
	Revenue

	TSIC 31 (revised 2017)
	Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

	TFRIC 13 (revised 2017)
	Customer Loyalty Programmes

	TFRIC 15 (revised 2017)
	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

	TFRIC 18 (revised 2017)
	Transfers of Assets from Customers


Entities are to apply this standard to all contracts with customers unless those contracts fall within the scope of other standards. The standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers, with revenue being recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The standard requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model. 

This standard does not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

b.
Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020
The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of new and revised financial reporting standards and interpretations, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards except the following new standards which involve changes to key principles, which are summarised below.

Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments

A set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and interpretations, as follows:
Financial reporting standards:

	TFRS 7
	Financial Instruments: Disclosures

	TFRS 9 
	Financial Instruments


Accounting standard:

	TAS 32 
	Financial Instruments: Presentation


Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:

	TFRIC 16 
	Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

	TFRIC 19
	Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments


These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating to the classification of financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised cost (taking into account the type of instrument, the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the entity’s business model), calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. When the TFRSs related to financial instruments are effective, some accounting standards, interpretations and guidance which are currently effective will be cancelled.

The management of the Group expects the adoption of these accounting standards to result in the following adjustments.

Recognition of credit losses - The Group is to recognise an allowance for expected credit losses on its financial assets, and it is no longer necessary for a credit-impaired event to have occurred. The Group applies the simplified approach to consider impairment of trade receivables.

The management of the Group is currently evaluating the impact of these standards on the financial statements in the year when they are adopted.

TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is low value. 

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from TAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles to those used under TAS 17.

The Group plans to adopt TFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption of which the cumulative effect is recognised as an adjustment to the retained earnings as at 1 January 2020, and the comparative information was not restated. 
The management of the Group is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on the financial statements in the year when it is adopted.

4.
Significant accounting policies
4.1
Revenue recognition

Sales of goods
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at the amount of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after deducting returns and discounts. 


Revenues from contract work

Revenues from contract work is recognised over time when services have been rendered taking into account the stage of completion, measuring based on comparison of actual construction costs incurred up to the end of the period and total anticipated construction costs to be incurred to completion. Provision for the total anticipated loss on the projects will be made in the accounts as soon as the possibility of loss is ascertained.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and liquidated damages, delays in delivery or contractual penalties is taken into account in determining the revenue to be recognised, such that revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

When the value and stage of completion of the contract cannot be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered. 


The service-type warranties provided customers with a service in addition to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications are recognised as revenue over the periods in which the service is provided.

Rendering of services

Service revenue is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the service.
Revenue from sales under finance lease agreements

Finance lease receivables have been recorded based on the contractual value. The difference between the contractual value and the value equivalent to the cash price of the asset is recognised as unearned interest income.  Interest income on finance leases is recognised over the term of the lease using the effective interest rate.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the effective interest rate.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

4.2
Costs to fulfil contracts with customers


The Group recognises costs to fulfil a customer contract as an asset provided that the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future and the costs are expected to be recovered. The asset recognised is amortised to expenses on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition. An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset recognised exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive less direct costs.  
4.3
Contract balance

Contract assets 


A contract asset is the excess of cumulative revenue earned over the billings to date which has been presented under the caption of “Accrued income” in the statement of financial position. Allowance for impairment loss is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in customer collection. Contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional (i.e. services are completed and delivered to customer). 


Contract liabilities


A contract liability is the excess of the billings to date over the cumulative revenue earned and the Group has the obligation to transfer goods and services to a customer which has been presented under the caption of “Unearned revenue” in the statement of financial position. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group fulfils their performance obligations under the contracts. 

4.4
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist cash in hand and at banks and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.
4.5
Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based on collection experience and analysis of debt aging. 

4.6
Inventories

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost (under the weighted average method) and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes all production costs and attributable factory overheads.


Raw materials and factory supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realisable value and are charged to production costs whenever consumed.


Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimate costs necessary to make the sale.

4.7
Investments

a)
Investments in securities held for trading are stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these securities are recorded in profit or loss. 
b)
Investments in available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these securities are recorded in other comprehensive income, and will be recorded in profit or loss when the securities are sold. 

c)
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in the separate financial statements using the cost method. 

The fair value of marketable securities is based on the latest bid price of the last working day of the year as quoted on the Stock Exchange of Thailand. If the last bid price of the last working day of the year as quoted on the Stock Exchange of Thailand is not available, the basis used by the Group to determine the fair value of marketable securities is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged or liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of investments. 
In the event the Group reclassifies investments from one type to another, such investments will be readjusted to their fair value as at the reclassification date.  The difference between the carrying amount of the investments and the fair value on the date of reclassification are recorded in profit or loss or recorded as other components of shareholders’ equity, depending as the type of investment that is reclassified.
On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment is recognised in profit or loss.
4.8
Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the value of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

On disposal of investment properties, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

4.9
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation


Land is stated at revalued amount. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).  

Land is initially recorded at cost on the acquisition date, and subsequently revalued by an independent professional appraiser to its fair value. Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value at the end of reporting period.
Differences arising from the revaluation are dealt with in the financial statements as follows:

-
When an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation of the Group’s assets, the increase is credited directly to the other comprehensive income and the cumulative increase is recognised in equity under the heading of “Revaluation surplus”.  However, a revaluation increase is recognised as income to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease in respect of the same asset previously recognised as an expense.


-
When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation of the Group’s assets, the decrease is recognised in profit or loss.  However, the revaluation decrease is charged to the other comprehensive income to the extent that it does not exceed an amount already held in “Revaluation surplus” in respect of the same asset.
Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:
Buildings and improvement
-
  
3 - 33 years

Office equipment
-

3 - 10 years

Machinery, tools and equipment
-

3 - 15 years

Motor vehicles
-

5 and 7 years

Depreciation is included in determining income. 

No depreciation is provided on land and assets under installation.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

4.10
Borrowing costs



Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

4.11
Intangible assets


Intangible assets acquired through business combination are initially recognised at their fair value on the date of business acquisition while intangible assets acquired in other cases are recognised at cost. Following the initial recognition, the intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (if any). 


Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a systematic basis over the economic useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such intangible assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation expense is charged to the profit or loss. 


A summary of the intangible assets with finite useful lives is as follows:


Useful lives

Computer software

3, 5, 10 years and contract periods
License

5   years 

Right for air time

5   years 

Right for telecommunication tower service
10 years
4.12
Service concession arrangements 


The subsidiary determines conditions of an arrangement whereby a grantor, which is the Royal Government, controls or regulates what services the operator must provide using the assets and also controls any significant residual interest in the assets at the end of the term of the arrangement.


The subsidiary recognises and measures the consideration received depending on the conditions of service concession arrangement. An intangible asset is recognised to the extent that the subsidiary receives a right to charge users of the public service. A financial asset is recognised to the extent that an operator has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor. 


The subsidiary recognises the consideration, based upon the conditions of service concession arrangement, received from the air traffic control service and system installation in Cambodia as an intangible asset because the subsidiary receives a right to charge users of the public service and amortises such intangible asset as expense in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis of the concession period.

4.13
Business combinations and goodwill 


Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method with the cost of the acquisition being the fair value at the acquisition date of consideration transferred, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest, if any, in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are accounted for as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 



Goodwill is initially recorded at cost, which equals to the excess of cost of business combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired. If the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds the cost of business combination, the excess is immediately recognised as gain in the profit or loss. 


Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units (or group of cash-generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

4.14
Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the Company, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associated companies, and individuals or enterprises which directly or indirectly own a voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company, key management personnel, directors and officers with authority in the planning and direction of the Company’s operations.

4.15
Long-term leases

Finance leases 

Leases of plant and equipment which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets or the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The outstanding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in long-term payables, while the interest element is charged to profit or loss over the lease period. The assets acquired under finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 
Operating leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipments which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Operation lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.     
4.16
Arrangement contains a lease

The Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease, based on the substance of the arrangement as at the effective date of the arrangement. This is to conclude whether the arrangement meets the criteria pertaining to fulfilment of the arrangement depending upon a specific asset and the arrangement conveying a right to control the use of the underlying asset.

4.17
Foreign currencies



The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Items of each entity included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the functional currency of that entity.


Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.   


Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.

4.18
Impairment of assets



At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs impairment reviews in respect of the property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. The Group also carries out annual impairment reviews and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired in respect of goodwill. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount. In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available, reflects the amount that the Group could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. 



An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. However in cases where land was previously revalued and the revaluation was taken to equity, a part of such impairment is recognised in equity up to the amount of the previous revaluation.



In the assessment of asset impairment if there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The increased carrying amount of the asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal, which exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, is treated as a revaluation increase.

4.19
Employee benefits


Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as expenses when incurred.


Post-employment benefits 

Defined contribution plans
 
The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Group. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Group’s contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.


Defined benefit plans
 
The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon retirement under labor law. The Group treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.


The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. 


Provision for vacation



The Group has set up provision for vacation which is calculated in accordance with the Group’s policy and formula, taking into consideration the employee’s salary, the number of service years and the unused vacation days.

Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or curtailment and the date that the Company recognizes restructuring-related costs.

4.20
Provisions


Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provision for losses on contracts with customers is made in the accounts in full when the possibility of loss is ascertained.


4.21
Income tax



Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current income tax



Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.

Deferred tax



Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax rates enacted at the end of the reporting period. 


The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while it recognises deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.


At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.


The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to items that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity. 
4.22
Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts

Forward exchange contracts are stated at fair value, which is calculated by reliable financial institutions. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the contracts are recognised in profit or loss. 
4.23
Fair value measurement


Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement date. The Group applies a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards. Except in case of no active market of an identical asset or liability or when a quoted market price is not available, the Group measures fair value using valuation technique that are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.


All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on categorise of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:

Level 1 - 
Use of quoted market prices in an active market for such assets or liabilities 

Level 2 - 
Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or indirectly

Level 3 - 
Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows 


At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

5.
Significant accounting judgements and estimates


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures; and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant judgements and estimates are as follows:

5.1
Revenue from contracts with customers

Identification of performance obligations 

In identifying performance obligations, the management is required to use judgement regarding whether each promise to deliver goods or services is considered distinct, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. In other words, if a good or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and if the customer can benefit from it, it is accounted for separately.

Determination of timing of revenue recognition

In determining the timing of revenue recognition, the management is required to use judgement regarding whether performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. The Group recognises revenue over time in the following circumstances:

· the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity performs

· the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

· the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date

Where the above criteria are not met, revenue is recognised at a point in time. Where revenue is recognised at a point in time, the management is required to determine when the performance obligation under the contract is satisfied.

In calculating the revenue recognised over time, the management is required to use judgement regarding measuring progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation, measuring based on comparison of actual construction costs incurred up to the end of the period and total anticipated construction costs to be incurred to completion.


Determination of transaction price 

In determining transaction price, the management is required to use judgement in estimating the variable consideration. The most likely amount method is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold, while the expected value method is used for contracts with more than one volume threshold. The Group includes any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that             a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.


Costs to obtain contracts

The recognition of costs incurred to obtain a contract as an asset requires management to use judgement regarding whether such costs are the incremental costs of obtaining               a contract with a customer as well as what amortisation method should be used.

5.2
Allowance for doubtful accounts

In determining an allowance for doubtful accounts, the management needs to make judgement and estimates based upon, among other things, past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the prevailing economic condition. 

5.3
Reduction cost to net realisable value of inventories
Determining the reduction cost to net realisable value of inventories requires management to exercise judgement in term of estimating losses on outstanding inventories, based on the selling price expected in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to completion or estimated additional expenses to be incurred in preparing the inventory for sale, and reduction cost of inventories for obsolete, slow-moving and deteriorated inventories, and taking into account the approximate useful life of each type of inventory and current changes in technology.

5.4
Property plant and equipment/Depreciation
In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and residual values when there are any changes. 

The Group measures land at revalued amounts. Such amounts are determined by the independent valuer using the market approach. The valuation involves certain assumptions and estimates as described in Note 19.


In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. This requires judgements regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.
5.5
Goodwill 


The initial recognition and measurement of goodwill, and subsequent impairment testing, require management to make estimates of cash flows to be generated by the asset or the cash generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

5.6
Deferred tax assets


Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that the Group will have taxable profit that will be available against which the temporary differences and losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits. 

5.7
Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans 

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.

5.8
Litigation and delay penalty
The Group has contingent liabilities as a result of litigation and delay penalty. The management has used judgement to assess the results of the litigation and delay penalty in which they believe that the provisions made would be sufficient as at the end of reporting period. However, actual results could differ from the estimates.

6.
Related party transactions

During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with related parties, principally in respect of the purchase and sales of goods, services and loans. Such transactions, which were summarised below, were concluded on terms and bases agreed upon between the Company and its related parties. The pricing policies with its related parties summarised as follows:
1.
Sales prices are determined at market price, if there is unknown market price, sales price will be determined at cost plus a margin not over 15 percent.  However, the pricing policy is subject to change depending on the type of business and market competition at the time being.

2.
Management fees and rental income are charged at the amount stated in the agreement.

3.
IT service fees income from subsidiary companies are charged at the amount stated in the agreement based on cost plus a margin not over 5 percent.

4.
Other service income and expenses are charged at a mutually agreed price.

5.
Interest on loans are charged at cost plus margin as follows:

5.1
Cost of fund plus 0.25 percent per annum.

5.2
Fixed deposit rate of the commercial banks that frequently use.

5.3
12-month average fixed deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.25 percent per annum.

5.4
Average saving deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.25 percent per annum.

5.5
In case of USD Loans: LIBOR 3-month plus 0.25 percent per annum.

6.
Fixed assets are sold and purchased at market price or their net book value plus               a margin, depending on the condition of the fixed assets.

7.
Guarantee fee is charged between the parties at a rate of 0.3 percent per annum.

8.
Management benefit expenses are charged as approved by the shareholders’ meeting or contractually agreed price.

9.
Dividend income is recognised when declared and the right to receive the dividend is established.

Significant business transactions between the Company and its related parties were summarised below.
(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated             financial statements
	Separate              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Transactions with subsidiary companies (eliminated from the consolidated financial statements)
	
	
	
	

	Purchases of goods and services
	-
	-
	30
	17

	Management fee income
	-
	-
	58
	82

	Guarantee fee income
	-
	-
	7
	6

	IT Service fee income 
	-
	-
	95
	95

	Dividend income 
	-
	-
	252
	2,689

	Interest income
	-
	-
	15
	39

	Sales of fixed assets
	-
	-
	12
	1

	Purchases of fixed assets
	-
	-
	6
	44

	Other income
	-
	-
	72
	121

	Other expenses
	-
	-
	14
	16

	Interest expenses
	-
	-
	12
	10


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated             financial statements
	Separate              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Transactions with related companies
	
	
	
	

	Sales and service income
	19
	11
	-
	-

	Purchases of goods and services
	30
	18
	-
	-

	Purchases of fixed assets
	-
	17
	-
	-

	Other income
	7
	9
	1
	3

	Other expenses
	111
	111
	66
	64


As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances of the account between the Company and those related parties were as follows:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                         financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Trade accounts receivable - related parties (Note 9)
	
	
	
	

	Related companies (related by shareholder)
	1,564
	691
	-
	-

	Total trade accounts receivable - related parties
	1,564
	691
	-
	-

	
	
	
	
	

	Amount due from and advance to related parties (Note 9)
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary companies
	-
	-
	49,895
	44,700

	Related companies (related by shareholder)
	1,648
	1,571
	506
	428

	Total amount due from and advance to       related parties 
	1,648
	1,571
	50,401
	45,128

	
	
	
	
	


	Trade accounts payable - related parties (Note 23)
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary companies
	-
	-
	115,850
	114,388

	Related companies (related by shareholder)
	8,073
	940
	-
	8


	Total trade accounts payable - related parties
	8,073
	940
	115,850
	114,396

	
	
	
	
	

	Other payables and accrued interest expenses - related parties (Note 23)
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiary companies
	-
	-
	5,099
	3,808

	Related companies (related by shareholder)
	6,347
	6,697
	1,880
	1,877

	Total other payables and accrued interest expenses - related parties
	6,347
	6,697
	6,979
	5,685


Loans to related parties and loans from related parties


As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances of loans between the Company and those related parties and the movements were as follows:


Loans to subsidiary companies

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	Short-term loans
	
	During the year
	Allowance for diminution 
	

	to subsidiary companies (Note 11)
	2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	in value
	2019

	Suvarnabhumi Environment Care Co., Ltd.
	215,021
	10,240
	-
	(36,999)
	188,262

	The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd.
	438,400
	-
	(328,400)
	-
	110,000

	Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd.
	60,000
	-
	(60,000)
	-
	-

	Total
	713,421
	10,240
	(388,400)
	(36,999)
	298,262


Loans from subsidiary companies 

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Short-term loans
	Separate financial statements

	from subsidiary companies
	
	During the year
	Unrealised gain
	

	(Note 24)
	2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	on exchange
	2019

	Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd.
	379,956
	-
	(6,374)
	(26,157)
	347,425

	Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Samart Transolutions Co., Ltd.”)
	290,000
	-
	(290,000)
	-
	-

	Teda Co., Ltd.
	-
	150,000
	(150,000)
	-
	-

	Total
	669,956
	150,000
	(446,374)
	(26,157)
	347,425


 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	Long-term loans from subsidiary company
	2018
	During the year
	2019

	Kampot Power Plant Co., Ltd.
	36,000
	-
	36,000

	Total 
	36,000
	-
	36,000


On 7 December 2012, the Company obtained a Baht loan from Kampot Power Plant Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, amounting to Baht 186 million which bears interest at the average saving deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.25 percent per annum. This loan will be mature in full within the year 2022. 
Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had employee benefit expenses payable to their directors and management as below. 

(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated                   financial statements
	Separate                           financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Short-term employee benefits
	119
	110
	29
	30

	Post-employment benefits
	17
	2
	3
	1

	Total
	136
	112
	32
	31


Significant agreements with related parties
Long-term rental agreements 
a) The Group entered into office rental agreements with Vilailuck International Holding Co., Ltd., a related company, for use in their operations. These contracts will expire in April 2020. The Group has to pay a monthly rental fee of approximately Baht 2.7 million (2018: Baht 2.3 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 0.8 million (2018: Baht 0.5 million)).

b) The Group entered into office rental agreements with CSV Asset Co., Ltd., a related company, for use in their operations.  These contracts will expire in December 2020.  The Group has to pay a monthly rental fee of approximately Baht 0.6 million (2018: Baht 0.6 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 0.2 million (2018: Baht 0.2 million)).

Service agreements

a)
The Group entered into facility service agreements with Vilailuck International Holding Co., Ltd., a related company. These contracts will expire in April 2020, under which it has to pay monthly facility service fees of approximately Baht 6.8 million (2018: Baht 6.1 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 3.6 million (2018: Baht 3.0 million)). 

b)
The Group entered into facility service agreements with CSV Asset Co., Ltd., a related company. These contracts will expire in December 2020, under which it has to pay monthly facility service fees of approximately Baht 0.7 million (2018: Baht 0.8 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 0.3 million (2018: Baht 0.3 million)).

The commitment under the operating lease agreements with the related parties was disclosed in Note 44.2 to the financial statements.

Guarantee obligations with related parties

The Company has outstanding guarantee obligations with its related parties, as described in Note 44.4.2 to the financial statements.

7.
Cash and cash equivalents
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                              financial statements
	Separate                                       financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Cash
	3,130
	3,056
	20
	20

	Bank deposits 
	2,161,459
	2,903,131
	92,359
	109,487

	Less: Restricted bank deposits
	(249,115)
	(234,907)
	-
	-

	Total
	1,915,474
	2,671,280
	92,379
	109,507



As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits in saving accounts and fixed deposits carried interests at the rate between 0.05 and 3.00 percent per annum (2018: between 0.01 and 2.60 percent per annum).
8. 
Current investments
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                              financial statements
	Separate                                       financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Trading securities (Note 8.1)
	15,934
	17,258
	7,678
	8,930

	Investment held-for-sale (Note 15)
	4,956
	-
	-
	-

	Fixed deposit with financial institution
	597,313
	60,000
	-
	-

	Total
	618,203
	77,258
	7,678
	8,930


As at 31 December 2019, fixed deposit with financial institution carried interests at the rate between 1.35 and 2.06 percent per annum (2018: between 1.05 and 1.15 percent per annum).
8.1
Current investments in trading securities 


Movements of the current investments in trading securities account for the years ended               31 December 2019 and 2018 were summarised below.
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated financial statements 
	Separate financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Balance at beginning of year
	17,258
	17,111
	8,930
	10,014

	Purchases during the year
	
	
	
	

	Cash paid for current investments in trading securities 
	-
	200
	-
	-

	Fair value of converted warrants classified as trading securities at conversion date
	-
	732
	-
	-

	Total
	-
	932
	-
	-

	Decrease in warrants due to conversion to trading securities - at fair value
	
	
	
	

	At cost
	-
	(3,910)
	-
	-

	Loss on change in value until conversion date 
	-
	3,178
	-
	-

	Total
	-
	(732)
	-
	-

	Loss on change in value (Note 36)
	(1,324)
	(53)
	(1,252)
	(1,084)

	Balance at end of year
	15,934
	17,258
	7,678
	8,930


9.

Trade and other receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                             financial statements
	Separate                                  financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Trade accounts receivable - related parties (Note 6)
	
	
	
	

	Aged on the basis of due dates
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due 
	736
	264
	-
	-

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	157
	164
	-
	-

	3 - 6 months
	321
	-
	-
	-

	6 - 12 months
	164
	77
	-
	-

	Over 12 months
	186
	186
	-
	-

	Total trade accounts receivable - related parties
	1,564
	691
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - unrelated parties
	
	
	
	

	Aged on the basis of due dates
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	1,874,795
	933,823
	-
	-

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 3 months
	547,291
	617,205
	-
	-

	3 - 6 months
	79,167
	85,813
	-
	-

	6 - 12 months
	43,491
	51,128
	-
	-

	Over 12 months
	3,859,611
	4,664,620
	117,038
	117,038

	Total 
	6,404,355
	6,352,589
	117,038
	117,038

	Less:
Allowance for doubtful debts
	(2,456,135)
	(2,480,969)
	(22,222)
	(22,222)

	Total trade accounts receivable -

   unrelated parties, net
	3,948,220
	3,871,620
	94,816
	94,816

	Total trade accounts receivable - net
	3,949,784
	3,872,311
	94,816
	94,816


	Other receivables
	
	
	
	

	Amount due from and advance to                  related parties (Note 6)
	1,648
	1,571
	50,401
	45,128

	Security business receivables 
	1,022,626
	1,022,626
	-
	-

	Other receivables - unrelated parties
	391,641
	180,959
	201,985
	1,233

	Total 
	1,415,915
	1,205,156
	252,386
	46,361

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 
	(1,110,965)
	(1,103,847)
	(54)
	(54)

	Total other receivables - net
	304,950
	101,309
	252,332
	46,307

	Total trade and other receivables - net
	4,254,734
	3,973,620
	347,148
	141,123


a)
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, and its subsidiaries (Samart Digital Group) had outstanding accounts receivable from unrelated parties past due over 12 months of approximately Baht 2,953 million and Baht 3,624 million, respectively.


During the year 2018, Samart Digital Group continually received repayments of approximately Baht 756 million. It has re-evaluated the accounts receivable collectability and set aside an additional allowance for doubtful debts of approximately Baht 666 million. As a result, net receivable as at 31 December 2018 was approximately Baht 1,419 million.


During the year 2019, Samart Digital Group continually received repayments of approximately Baht 666 million. As a result, net receivable as at 31 December 2019 was approximately Baht 853 million.


In addition, during the year 2019, Samart Digital Group received repayments from some debtors which already set up fully allowance for doubtful debts. Samart Digital Group reversed allowance for doubtful debts amounted to Baht 106 million and recognised in income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019.


Samart Digital Group has evaluated and believed that it will receive repayments from debtors because it has been doing business together for a long time and the customers are trustworthy considering their continuing repayments. Samart Digital Group has evaluated the accounts receivable collectability and believed that the allowance for doubtful debts, considering the current situation, as at 31 December 2019 was sufficient and appropriate and it would be able to collect the remaining debt after deducting  the allowance for doubtful debts. Although Samart Digital Group has evaluated and exercised its best estimate, there is still uncertainty about the changing situation, which is normal for future events that have not yet occurred.

b)
In 2019, Samart Digital Group wrote-off trade accounts receivable and other receivables approximately Baht 1 million (2018: Baht 133 million). 

c)
The Company and four subsidiary companies (Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd., Samart Communication Services Co., Ltd., Samart Comtech Co., Ltd. and Portalnet Co., Ltd.) have transferred their collection rights from projects and trade accounts receivable to banks as collateral for loans and credit facilities. As at 31 December 2019, the balances of the above trade accounts receivable included the receivables that were transferred their collection rights to banks totaling Baht 
1,919 million (2018: Baht 820 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 95 million (2018: Baht 95 million)).
d)
As at 31 December 2019, trade accounts receivable of Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.,             a subsidiary company, included amounts of Baht 3 million (2018: Baht 3 million) receivable from financial institutions which were ordered to cease their operations by the authorities. The subsidiary company has already provided full allowance for doubtful accounts for these amounts.

e)
Securities business receivables


As at 31 December 2019, IT Absolute Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company (formerly operate securities business), had securities business receivables which are under legal proceedings, undergoing restructuring or being settled in installments, to Baht 1,023 million (2018: Baht 1,023 million), on which the subsidiary already fully set up allowance for doubtful account.


In addition during the year 2009, the subsidiary company has filed lawsuits with the Civil Court and the Bankruptcy Court, seeking to have the seven customers settled their total outstanding debts of Baht 978 million to the subsidiary company. The seven debtors are under absolute receivership by the Central Bankruptcy Court and these are being carried out in accordance with the process laid down under bankruptcy laws. The Civil Court dismissed the lawsuits of seven debtors so that the subsidiary company could receive settlement in the bankruptcy cases. 


The share purchase agreement of shares in IT Absolute Co., Ltd., on 3 February 2012, stated that if IT Absolute Co., Ltd., receives any repayment or benefit subsequent to share transfer date (all together called “repayment”) arising from obligation before or at share transfer date, Samart Broadband Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, (buyer) shall order IT Absolute Co., Ltd., to transfer the repayment made by the previous shareholder (a bank) at the rate of 99.7888 percent as formula which was described in the agreement.
f) 
On 2 November 2015, One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, filed a lawsuit with the Civil Court, seeking settlement of a government agency as                  a trade accounts receivable (unrelated party) that were past due totaling approximately Baht 78 million (included accrued income amounted to approximately Baht 4 million) for contact center service. On 21 November 2016, the Civil Court ordered that such government agency has to repay the full amount of debt, with interest charged, to the subsidiary company. Later, on 19 January 2017, the government agency appealed against the Civil Court’s verdict and on 15 August 2017, the Appeal Court affirmed the judgment of the Court of First Instance and such government agency is to repay the full amount of debt, with interest charged, to the subsidiary company. However,             on 13 September 2017, the government agency appealed against the Appeal Court’s verdict and filed an appeal with the Supreme Court.


On 2 August 2019, the Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of the Appeal Court and such government agency was to repay the full amount of debt with interest to the subsidiary. On 13 September 2019, the subsidiary received the repayment of debt with interest in full and the court fee of Baht 105 million inclusive interest of Baht 26 million. 

g)
On 23 November 2016, the Company, is at 60 percent investing in SPS Consortium, filed a lawsuit with the Administrative Court, seeking settlement of a government agency, as a trade account receivable of SPS Consortium for the outstanding service fees for the 44th - 120th installments that were past due totalling Baht 194 million. Subsequently, the Court has accepted to consider only the outstanding service fees for the 60th - 120th installments, totaling Baht 158 million, as they are in the 5-year period of the statute of limitation. The Company has recorded this account receivable of Baht 116 million in its financial statements, based on investing proportion, and also set aside allowance for such doubtful account for the portion of the Court which has not accepted amounting to Baht 22 million. However, the management of Company believes it will receive the service fees accepted by the Court in full. Therefore as at      31 December 2019, the Company has not set aside any allowance for doubtful accounts for the remaining amount.

h)
Other than those mentioned in a) - g) above, as at 31 December 2019, allowance for doubtful debts has not been set aside in full amount for the outstanding balances of the subsidiaries’ trade accounts receivable - unrelated parties that were aged more than 12 months past due. This is because trade accounts receivable are government units and private companies, that obtained government projects or are large private companies. Those accounts receivable have business transactions with the group regularly and have continued to make repayment. The above accounts receivable have no uncollectable experience and the process of payment approval for such receivables normally take a long time. The subsidiary companies have still followed up these debts and are confident that all debts could be collected. Therefore, the management of the subsidiary companies believe that the allowance for doubtful debts is appropriate and adequate.

10. 
Finance lease receivables 
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                                    financial statements 

	
	2019
	2018

	Finance lease receivables (contractual value)
	610,149
	610,149

	Less:
Receipts
	(311,635)
	(189,605)

	Finance lease receivables
	298,514
	420,544

	Less: Unearned interest income
	(14,348)
	(28,335)

	Finance lease receivables - net of unearned interest income
	284,166
	392,209

	Less: Current portion of finance lease receivables
	(122,797)
	(118,211)

	Finance lease receivables - net of current portion
	161,369
	273,998



Vision and Security System Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into a rental agreement for the phase 2 CCTV project with a government unit which the total revenue is Baht 610 million. The agreement period is 5 years and carries interest at 4.525 percent per annum. The rental is to be paid on a monthly basis. The subsidiary has transferred its fee collection rights under the agreement to banks to secure loans as mentioned in Note 26 to the financial statements.  

As at 31 December 2019, the balance of the above trade accounts receivable including                      the receivables related to fee collection rights transferred to banks totaling Baht 65 million (2018: Baht 151 million).

11.
Short-term loans

 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                    financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Short-term loans to related parties (Note 6)
	-
	-
	298,262
	713,421

	Short-term loan to unrelated party
	12,000
	12,000
	-
	-

	Short-term loans to employees
	296
	105
	-
	-

	Total short-term loans
	12,296
	12,105
	298,262
	713,421


Short-term loan to unrelated party of Baht 12 million is a loan that Samart Green Energy Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, granted to an individual on 27 October 2016 and due within one year from the contract date. The loan agreement shall remain in full force and effect for one-year term from the date it expires without renewal. The loan carries interest rate at 7.125% per annum, and the interest is paid in every six months. 

However, on 25 September 2018, the subsidiary company received a formal letter from the borrower regarding the loan repayment whereby the borrower will repay all outstanding principal and interest within 31 March 2019.

Subsequently on 25 March 2019, the subsidiary company agreed to extend the repayment period for the outstanding principal and interest to 31 May 2019. 
On 31 May 2019, the borrower defaulted on a loan as it failed to repay the loan as scheduled. The subsidiary company issued a debt collection letter dated 26 July 2019 in order to request the borrower to make repayment for all outstanding principal and interest. The default interest rate is 15 percent, according to the debt collection letter, effective in April 2019 onwards. Later, on 9 September 2019, the subsidiary company sent a debt collection letter to the borrower to demanding a repayment of all outstanding principal and interest to be made by 10 November 2019.

Subsequently, on 9 January 2020, the subsidiary company filed a lawsuit with the Civil Court, seeking settlement of the outstanding principal and interest to be made by the borrower.

Presently, the case is under consideration of the Civil Court. However, the borrower mortgaged the land with fair value higher than the outstanding balance of short-term loan to secure the loan.  Therefore, the subsidiary company did not set aside a provision for impairment of short-term loan. 

12.
Inventories

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Cost
	Reduce cost to                           net realisable value 
	Inventories-net

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Finished goods
	382,128
	509,553
	(153,738)
	(390,218)
	228,390
	119,335

	Work in process
	303,767
	253,475
	(66,559)
	(55,158)
	237,208
	198,317

	Raw materials and supplies
	91,202
	117,074
	(82,840)
	(72,948)
	8,362
	44,126

	Goods in transit
	1,256
	1,818
	-
	-
	1,256
	1,818

	Total
	778,353
	881,920
	(303,137)
	(518,324)
	475,216
	363,596

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	Separate                         financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	2019
	2018

	Work in process
	
	
	
	
	53,310
	15,000

	Total
	
	
	
	
	53,310
	15,000



During the current year, the subsidiary companies reversed the write-down of cost of inventories by Baht 215 million, and reduced cost of sale (2018: the subsidiary companies recorded the reduced cost of inventories by Baht 34 million to reflect the net realisable value. This was included in cost of sales).   
13.
Other current assets

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                             financial statements
	Separate                                  financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Advance for purchase of inventories and equipment 
	598,518
	413,529
	-
	-

	Withholding tax and prepaid tax expenses
	396,829
	430,916
	10,475
	19,016

	Refundable value added tax
	275,046
	242,360
	1,398
	14,094

	Prepaid expenses
	232,099
	255,063
	16,289
	19,116

	Retention receivable
	174,640
	160,376
	-
	-

	Advance payments
	30,158
	228,174
	8,213
	8,291

	Others
	25,752
	34,367
	11,567
	11,967

	Less: Allowance for diminution in value of other current assets
	(6,333)
	(5,168)
	-
	-

	Total other current assets - net
	1,726,709
	1,759,617
	47,942
	72,484



The Group regards withholding tax deducted at sources as an asset since they have the right to claim for refund of it. However, the net realisable value of withholding tax depends on the exercise right to claim it, and the results of any tax audit by the Revenue officials.


During the year 2019, the Group received such refund of the withholding tax of 2012 - 2017 approximately Baht 169 million (2018: The Group received refund of the withholding tax of 2015 - 2017 approximately Baht 215 million) (Separate financial statements: received refund of the withholding tax of 2017 approximately Baht 13 million (2018: the Company received such refund of the withholding tax of 2016 approximately Baht 13 million).


As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiaries set up allowance for diminution in value of withholding tax deducted at sources totaling approximately Baht 2 million (2018: Baht 2 million). The management of the subsidiaries believe that the allowance for diminution in value of withholding tax deducted at sources is adequate.   

14.
Restricted bank deposits

These represent fixed deposits pledged by some subsidiaries with the banks to secure credit facilities, and letter of guarantees obtained from the banks.

15. 
Available-for-sale investments

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the subsidiary companies have available-for-sale investments as the followings:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2019
	2018

	Common stock/Warrant
	No. of shares
	Cost
	Fair value
	No. of shares
	Cost
	Fair value

	
	(Thousand shares)
	
	
	(Thousand shares)
	
	

	Seven Utilities and Power Public Co., Ltd. 
	30,000
	107,750
	15,300
	30,000
	107,750
	13,200

	Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd.
	-
	-
	-
	29,150
	76,068
	4,373

	Total 
	
	107,750
	15,300
	
	183,818
	17,573

	Less: Change in value
	
	(92,450)
	
	
	(166,245)
	

	Total available-for-sale investments - net
	
	15,300
	
	
	17,573
	


Movements of available-for-sale investments account during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were summarised below.


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                           financial statements

	
	2019
	2018

	Net book value at beginning of the year
	17,573
	39,334

	Gain (loss) on changes in value 
	2,683
	(21,761)

	Less:
Convert to investment held-for-sale
	
	

	
At cost
	(76,068)
	-

	
Reversal of loss on change in value previously recorded in other comprehensive income to profit or loss (Note 36)
	71,112
	-

	
Total 
	(4,956)
	-

	Net book value at end of the year
	15,300
	17,573


On 30 October 2019, an Extraordinary Meeting of the shareholders of Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd. passed a resolution to delist its securities from the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The offering price of ordinary shares is Baht 0.17 per share and the tender offer period is from 13 December 2019 to 18 February 2020.
The management of Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, approved the acceptance of a tender offer to purchase all shares of Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd.  As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary company therefore has reclassified the investment from investment in available-for-sale securities to held-for-sale investment. Due to change in status of such investment, the subsidiary company reversed unrealised loss on revaluation of fair value of available-for-sale securities amounting to Baht 71.1 million and recognised as loss on changes in value of investment in available-for-sale securities amounting to Baht 71.1 million in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended               31 December 2019.

16.
Investments in subsidiaries

16.1
Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in separate financial statements are as follows:

	Company’s name
	Paid-up capital
	Direct shareholding percentage
	Cost 
	Dividend received                  during the year 

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	
	Million Baht
	Million Baht
	Percent
	Percent
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht
	Thousand Baht

	The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd.
	550
	250
	100
	100
	587,258
	287,258
	-
	-

	Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd. 
	500
	500
	100
	100
	500,135
	500,135
	-
	745,000

	Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.
	618
	618
	70.14
	70.14
	1,537,050
	1,537,050
	238,406
	143,043

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.*
	1,132
	1,132
	82.70
	82.70
	5,677,525
	5,677,525
	-
	-

	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. 
	280
	280
	68.43
	68.43
	89,609
	89,609
	13,412
	21,076

	Vision and Security System Co., Ltd.
	20
	20
	73
	73
	17,482
	17,482
	-
	-

	Suvarnabhumi Environment Care Co., Ltd. 
	50
	50
	90
	90
	44,990
	44,990
	-
	-

	Samart RadiTech Co., Ltd. 
	46
	46
	100
	100
	46,000
	46,000
	-
	-

	Cambodia Samart Co., Ltd.                                             (The Company has control over this company’s operation)
	USD 25,000
	USD 25,000
	49
	49
	24,244
	24,244
	-
	-

	Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd. 
	USD 17 million
	USD 17 million
	100
	100
	583,829
	583,829
	-
	1,779,407

	Total investments in subsidiaries 
	
	
	
	
	9,108,122
	8,808,122
	251,818
	2,688,526

	Less: Allowance for diminution in value of investments
	
	
	
	
	(370,691)
	(324,707)
	
	

	Total investments in subsidiaries - net
	
	
	
	
	8,737,431
	8,483,415
	
	



* As at 31 December 2019, the Company has warrants SDC-W1 of 1.6 million units (2018: 1.6 million units).

16.2
Details of investments in subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests 

	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Company’s name
	Proportion of equity interest held by 

non-controlling interests
	Accumulated balance of 

non-controlling interests
	Profit/loss allocated to non-controlling interests during the year
	Dividends paid to            non-controlling interests during the year

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	
	(%)
	(%)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
	16.62
	16.62
	127,188
	156,158
	(39,621)
	(287,194)
	-
	-

	Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	29.86
	29.86
	1,120,108
	1,086,372
	136,798
	97,250
	101,492
	60,896

	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	30.82
	30.82
	263,604
	262,844
	10,443
	7,152
	6,041
	9,493


16.3
Summarised financial information that based on amounts before inter-company elimination about subsidiaries that have material non-controlling 
Summarised information about financial position

	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Samart Digital Public           Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	Samart Telcoms Public   Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Current assets
	1,934,843
	2,648,018
	7,296,416
	5,387,525
	866,445
	818,458

	Non-current assets
	3,393,598
	3,278,692
	2,158,050
	3,513,415
	108,592
	123,790

	Current liabilities
	3,789,628
	4,214,285
	5,452,976
	5,055,873
	89,513
	74,263

	Non-current liabilities
	689,493
	695,073
	215,835
	166,934
	18,017
	16,220


Summarised information about comprehensive income

	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	For the years ended 31 December

	
	Samart Digital Public           Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	Samart Telcoms Public          Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Revenue
	1,122,002
	770,126
	9,108,353
	7,711,122
	790,528
	718,272

	Profit (loss)
	(233,462)
	(1,596,185)
	451,073
	348,262
	33,009
	20,609

	Other comprehensive income (loss)
	65,130
	(13,854)
	(3,654)
	1,105
	2,333
	(1,514)

	Total comprehensive income (loss)
	(168,332)
	(1,610,039)
	447,419
	349,367
	35,342
	19,095


Summarised information about cash flows
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	For the years ended 31 December

	
	Samart Digital Public          Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
	One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Cash flows from operating activities
	826,544
	487,462
	309,617
	1,668,704
	129,144
	18,060

	Cash flows used in investing activities
	(687,115)
	(1,002,817)
	(375,288)
	(538,819)
	(471,189)
	(34,618)

	Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
	(298,397)
	646,794
	130,535
	(1,396,393)
	(19,600)
	(30,800)

	Translation adjustments
	-
	-
	-
	-
	41
	11

	Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
	(158,968)
	131,439
	64,864
	(266,508)
	(361,604)
	(47,347)


16.4

Change in investments in subsidiaries held by the Group

Establishment of new company and disposal of investment

On 26 February 2019, a meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors passed the following resolutions:

1. To approve the establishment of a new subsidiary under the name “Gateway Service Co., Ltd.”, to provide technology services related to the screening of electronic documents for visa applicants (Electronic visa on arrival), as well as all businesses related to these operations, with a registered share capital of Baht 50 million (consisting of 5 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) in which the Company holds a 100 percent interest. The Company registered the establishment of the new company with the Ministry of Commerce on 27 February 2019 and 25 percent of which have been called up.                     On 22 February 2019, the Company paid for such share capital of Baht 12.5 million. 

2. To approve the transfer of the business related to the screening of electronic documents for visa applicants (Electronic visa on arrival) from the Company to Gateway Service Co., Ltd. in order to increase mobility and support business expansion, including an increase in future fundraising channels.

On 26 April 2019, the meeting of the Company’s Board of Directors passed                           a resolution approving the disposal of investment in 4,999,997 ordinary shares of Gateway Service Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, at a price of Baht 2.50 per share, or a total of             Baht 12.5 million, with 2,499,999 shares sold to Southern Green Bay Co., Ltd., 1,499,999 shares sold to China Travel Service Head Office (Thailand) Co., Ltd. and 999,999 shares sold to Elephant Emperor Co., Ltd. (At disposal of investment date, Gateway Service Co., Ltd. has        a registered capital of Baht 50 million, divided into 5 million ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 per share, which is 25 percent paid-up).
Increase in share capital 

a. 
On 7 January 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution to approve an increase in the share capital from Baht 250 million (2,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 100 each) to Baht 550 million (5,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 100 each) through                 an issuance of additional 3,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 100 each. The subsidiary company registered the increase in the share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 15 January 2019.  The Company paid up the share capital in full in January 2019.

b. 
On 18 January 2019, the meeting of Board of Directors of Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Samart Transolutions Co., Ltd.”), a subsidiary company held by Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd., passed  a resolution to approve a dividend payment in respect of retained earnings for an increase in the share capital of Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, from USD 2.5 million (250,000 ordinary shares of USD 10 each) to USD 10 million (1,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 10 each). The subsidiary company registered the increase in the share capital with the Ministry of Commerce of Cambodia on 11 March 2019.


On 12 October 2017, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution approving the increase of the registered share capital from Baht 1 million (0.1 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 50 million (5 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) through the issuance of 4.9 million additional ordinary shares of Baht 10 each.

Later, on 21 December 2018, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of the subsidiary company passed a special resolution to approve an increase in the share capital from Baht 50 million (5 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 270 million (27 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each), in accordance with plan to list it on Stock Exchange of Thailand through an issuance of additional 22 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each. The subsidiary company registered the increase in the share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 26 December 2018. Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd. and Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd., the subsidiary companies, paid for the additional shares of 13,000,150 ordinary shares and 8,999,850 ordinary shares, respectively, of Baht 10 each totaling Baht 220 million in December 2018. 

Transformation to a public company

On 30 August 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Samart Transolutions Co., Ltd.”), a subsidiary company held by Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd., passed the following special resolutions:

1.
To approve the transformation from a limited company to a public company and list Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET).  The subsidiary company registered with the Ministry of Commerce the change of its name from “Samart Transolutions Company Limited” to “Samart Aviation Solutions Public Company Limited” on 9 September 2019.
2.
To approve the change in par value of ordinary shares from Baht 10 per share to  Baht 0.50 per share, resulting an increase in number of shares after the change in par value from 27 million shares to 540 million shares.

3.
To approve the increase in the registered share capital from Baht 270 million (540 million ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 per share, after the par value is changed as discussed    in 2.above) to Baht 320 million (640 million ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 per share) through the issuance of 100 million new ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.50 each. Of these shares, 36 million shares valued at Baht 18 million were issued to the existing shareholders (Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd. and Samart Inter Holding Co., Ltd.) in proportionate to their current shareholdings. The remaining 64 million shares are reserved for             the initial public offering to be launched after the subsidiary company lists on the SET.

The subsidiary company registered its decrease in the par value of ordinary shares and the increase in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 9 September 2019 and the subsidiary company received full payment for share subscription from existing respective shareholdings in September 2019.

Purchase of investments

During the year 2018, the Group had acquisition transactions of investments in related party as follows:  


Acquisition of investments by the Company

	Share’s name
	Number of ordinary shares
	Number of warrants received from purchase of new ordinary shares of subsidiary
	Purchase amount

	
	(Million shares)
	(Million units)
	(Million Baht)

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. 
	6,243
	1,561
	1,873



Acquisition of investment by the subsidiaries

	Share’s name
	Number of ordinary shares
	Number of warrants received from purchase of new ordinary shares of subsidiary
	Purchase amount

	
	(Million shares)
	(Million units)
	(Million Baht)

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. 
	72
	16
	21


As a result of such addition of ordinary shares, the percentage of shareholding of the Group in Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. as at 31 December 2018 was 83.38 percent. 

Change in subsidiary company’s name

On 25 January 2018, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of Samart Waste2Power Co., Ltd.,                         a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution approving the change of the company’s name from “Samart Waste2Power Co., Ltd.” to “Samart Green Energy Co., Ltd.”.                              The subsidiary company registered the change of its name with the Ministry of Commerce on 26 January 2018.

Dissolution of subsidiary

On 2 November 2018, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of Suvarnabhumi Environment Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution to dissolve the company. The subsidiary company registered its dissolution with the Ministry of Commerce on 5 November 2018 and its liquidation was registered with the Ministry of commerce on 28 December 2018.

16.5
Change in investments in subsidiary held by Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.

Disposal of investment in subsidiary

On 27 February 2018, the meeting of the Board of Directors of Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution approving the disposal of investment of 0.1 million ordinary shares of Net Media Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, to third party at a price of Baht 34.5 per share, or for a total of Baht 3.6 million. The subsidiary company signed the shares transfer agreement and received the repayment on 9 March 2018.

Net cash inflows from the disposal of investment in Net Media Co., Ltd. were as follows:
 (Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated            financial statements

	Proceeds from disposal of investment 
	3,560

	Less: Cash and cash equivalents at disposal date
	(3,542)

	Net cash inflows from disposal of investment 
	18

	Less: Net assets excepted cash and cash equivalents at disposal date
	-

	Gain from disposals of investment 
	18


Decrease in share capital
         On 16 November 2018, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of Portalnet Co., Ltd.,              a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to decrease its registered capital by Baht 1,270 million, from Baht 3,370 million (33.7 million ordinary shares with a par value Baht 100 each) to Baht 2,100 million (21 million ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 100 each) by reducing the deficit by Baht 1,000 million and returning capital of Baht 270 million to shareholders. This subsidiary registered the capital reduction with the Ministry of Commerce on 17 December 2018.

16.6
Changes in investments in subsidiaries held by Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.

Additional acquisition of investment

On 14 February 2019, the meeting of Board of Directors of Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd.,    a subsidiary company, passed a resolution approving an acquisition of increased share capital in proportion to shareholding of Entertainment Tree Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, and an acquisition of the shares remaining after the share allocation in total of 270,000 shares of Baht 10 per share. The subsidiary fully paid for the share acquisition on 20 February 2019.

As a result of the acquisition of increased share capital, the percentage of shareholding of Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd. in Entertainment Tree Co., Ltd. increased from 44.99 percent to 61.87 percent and surplus on changes in percentage of shareholding in subsidiary decreased of Baht 0.78 million.
Increase in share capital of subsidiary

On 18 February 2019, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Entertainment Tree Co., Ltd.,      a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution approving the increase in the registered share capital from Baht 5 million (500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 8 million (800,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) through the issuance of 300,000 additional ordinary shares at par value of Baht 10 each. The subsidiary company registered             the increase in the share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 25 February 2019.

The plan to list a subsidiary company on the Market for Alternative Investment (MAI)

On 29 July 2015, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders of I-Sport Co., Ltd.,                a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to approve the plan to list it on the Market for Alternative Investment (MAI) with the following details.

1.
To transform the company into a public limited company for the issuance and the initial public offering (IPO) of its shares and to list on the MAI Stock Exchange. 

2.
To increase the registered share capital from Baht 120 million (12 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 160 million (16 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) through an issuance of additional 4 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each to offer 3 million shares to the initial public offering (IPO) and offer 1 million shares to the existing shareholders which are Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company and Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd.. In addition, Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd. intends to offer 1 million shares to the initial public offering (IPO).
3.
To change the par value of ordinary shares from Baht 10 per share to Baht 0.25 per share. However, the changing of the par value does not affect to the portion of the issuance of its shares.  

As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary company has not yet proceeded the above matters.

Change in subsidiary company’s name

On 15 February 2018, an Extraordinary Meeting of shareholders of Samart Multimedia Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a special resolution approving the change of its name from “Samart Multimedia Co., Ltd.” to “Samart Digital Media Co., Ltd.”. The subsidiary company registered the change of its name with the Ministry of Commerce on 20 February 2018.

Dissolution of subsidiary companies

a)
On 11 October 2006, an Extraordinary Meeting of the shareholders of I-Mobile (Cambodia) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to liquidate the company. The process of registering that company’s dissolution and its subsequent liquidation are in progress.

b)
On 1 December 2017, an Extraordinary Meeting of the shareholders of Teleconnext Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to dissolve the company. The subsidiary company registered its dissolution on 13 December 2017 and its liquidation was registered with the Company Registry in Hong Kong on 8 August 2018. 

c)
On 30 April 2018, an Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of I-Sport Media Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to dissolve the company. The subsidiary company registered its dissolution on 9 May 2018 and its liquidation was registered with the Ministry of Commerce on 12 June 2018.  

Changes in share capital and warrants issued


On 27 April 2018, an Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution approving the cancellation of the resolution of the Extraordinary Meeting of the subsidiary company’s shareholders held on 27 September 2017 relating to the increase in its registered share capital and the reduction in the its registered share capital of the following.


Registered share capital 


	
	Number of shares (shares)
	Amount              (Baht)
	Registration date with the Ministry of Commerce

	Balance as at 31 December 2017
	9,900,562,500
	990,056,250
	

	Decrease in registered share capital
	(5,500,312,500)
	(550,031,250)
	

	
	4,400,250,000
	440,025,000
	17 May 2018

	Increase in registered share capital
	11,000,625,000
	1,100,062,500
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2018
	15,400,875,000
	1,540,087,500
	18 May 2018


In addition, the meeting approved the allocation of not more than 8,800,500,000 newly-issued ordinary shares, at the par value of Baht 0.1 per share, for the purpose of offering for sale to the existing shareholders of the subsidiary company in proportionate to their respective shareholdings (Rights offering), at the allocation ratio of 1 existing ordinary share to 2 newly-issued ordinary shares, at Baht 0.3 per share.
Issued and paid-up capital 


	
	Number of shares                (shares)
	Amount                 (Baht)
	Shares premium (Baht)
	Registration date with the Ministry of Commerce

	Balance as at 31 December 2017
	4,400,250,000
	440,025,000
	1,230,452,034
	

	Increase from share offering to existing shareholders
	6,924,173,218
	692,417,322
	1,384,834,644
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2018
	11,324,423,218
	1,132,442,322
	2,615,286,678
	4 June 2018



Warrants



An Annual General Meeting of the subsidiary company’s shareholders passed a resolution to issue warrants no. 1 (SDC-W1) up to 2,200,125,000 units of warrants to the existing shareholders of the subsidiary company who subscribe to and are allocated newly issued shares by offering to them in proportion to their shareholdings (rights offering) at the ratio of    4 newly issued shares to 1 warrant, without any cost. The exercise ratio is 1 warrant:                        1 share, with an exercise price of Baht 0.5 per 1 ordinary share. The warrants have a life of             5 years and are exercisable on the last business day of the June and December of each year throughout the life of the warrants, commencing from 28 December 2018.

	Warrants
	Exercise price
	Exercise ratio
	Warrants issued
	Exercised or cancelled
	Warrants as at            31 December 2019

	
	(Baht per unit)
	(Warrants: ordinary shares)
	(Thousand units)
	(units)
	(Thousand units)

	SDC-W1
	0.50
	1:1
	2,200,125
	-
	2,200,125


16.7 
Changes in investments in subsidiaries held by One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd.
Establishment of new company
On 23 February 2018, a meeting of the Board of Directors of One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to approve the establishment of a new subsidiary under the name “Inno Hub Co., Ltd.”, to provide research and development related to software program, robot, equipment, tooling and artefact innovation, with a registered share capital totalling Baht 3 million (consisting of 0.3 million ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) in which, the subsidiary company hold a 100 percent interest. The subsidiary company registered the establishment of the new company with the Ministry of Commerce on              6 March 2018. The share capital was fully paid in May 2018.

Increase in share capital  

a)
On 27 April 2018, a meeting of Annual General Meeting of shareholders of One to One Professional Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to approve the increase in share capital from Baht 1 million (100,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 2 million (200,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) through an issuance of additional 100,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each. The subsidiary company registered the increase in the share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 9 May 2018. One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, paid up the share capital in full in May 2018.

b)
On 8 August 2018, a meeting of the Board of Directors of One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to approve an increase in share capital of One to One (Cambodia) Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, from USD 440,000 (88,000 ordinary shares of USD 5 each) to USD 600,000 (120,000 ordinary shares of USD 5 each) through an issuance of addition 32,000 ordinary shares of USD 5 each. One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd. paid up the share capital in full in July 2019.  One to One (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. registered the addition share capital with the Ministry of Commerce of Cambodia on 9 September 2019.

17.
Prepaid rental to a related company

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements/ Separate financial statements 

	
	2019
	2018

	Prepaid rental 
	375,669
	375,669

	Less: Accumulated amortisation
	(258,794)
	(246,272)

	Prepaid rental - net
	116,875
	129,397

	Amortisation for the year
	12,522
	12,522


The Company has leased an office building from a related company for a period of                       30 years, for which it paid full rental in advance.  The payment was recorded as prepaid rental in the statement of financial position and amortised over the rental period.

18.
Investment properties

	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                        financial statements

	
	2019
	2018

	Balance at beginning of year
	83,836
	83,836

	Gain from a fair value adjustment (Note 34)
	800
	-

	Balance at end of year 
	84,636
	83,836



The investment properties of two subsidiary companies represent land. Their fair values have been determined based on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer, using the market comparison approach. 

19.
Property, plant and equipment
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Revaluation basis
	Cost basis
	

	
	
	Buildings and
	Office
	Machinery and
	
	Assets under
	

	
	Land
	improvement
	equipment
	equipment
	Motor vehicles
	installation
	Total

	Cost/Revalued amount
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	573,645
	326,263
	2,398,373
	16,139,043
	299,593
	401,307
	20,138,224

	Additions
	5,384
	26,678
	114,855
	452,461
	3,626
	1,905,954
	2,508,958

	Transfer in/(transfer out)
	-
	1,436
	(154,820)
	264,088
	-
	(288,639)
	(177,935)

	Disposals
	-
	-
	(41,034)
	(107,490)
	(17,231)
	-
	(165,755)

	Decrease from disposal of investment in subsidiary
	-
	-
	(6,061)
	-
	-
	-
	(6,061)

	Translation adjustments
	(22)
	(61)
	(643)
	(4,197)
	(154)
	1,101
	(3,976)

	31 December 2018
	579,007
	354,316
	2,310,670
	16,743,905
	285,834
	2,019,723
	22,293,455

	Additions
	-
	-
	24,246
	261,941
	7,191
	381,462
	674,840

	Transfer in/(transfer out)
	-
	811
	(2,817)
	(111,804)
	(1,635)
	(107,128)
	(222,573)

	Disposals
	-
	(514)
	(10,607)
	(65,964)
	(7,252)
	-
	(84,337)

	Revaluations 
	18,181
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	18,181

	Translation adjustments
	(222)
	(609)
	(4,644)
	(37,904)
	(1,418)
	(1,768)
	(46,565)

	31 December 2019
	596,966
	354,004
	2,316,848
	16,790,174
	282,720
	2,292,289
	22,633,001


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Revaluation basis
	Cost basis
	

	
	
	Buildings and
	Office
	Machinery and
	
	Assets under
	

	
	Land
	improvement
	equipment
	equipment
	Motor vehicles
	installation
	Total

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	-
	276,504
	1,863,601
	10,406,794
	204,373
	-
	12,751,272

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	10,634
	199,836
	1,217,622
	30,332
	-
	1,458,424

	Transfer in/(transfer out)
	-
	-
	(178,368)
	(210)
	-
	-
	(178,578)

	Accumulated depreciation on disposals
	-
	-
	(40,160)
	(97,959)
	(16,544)
	-
	(154,663)

	Decrease from disposal of investment in subsidiary
	-
	-
	(6,061)
	-
	-
	-
	(6,061)

	Translation adjustments
	-
	(61)
	(320)
	(2,616)
	(96)
	-
	(3,093)

	31 December 2018
	-
	287,077
	1,838,528 
	11,523,631
	218,065
	-
	13,867,301

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	11,488
	183,100
	1,261,234
	24,108
	-
	1,479,930

	Transfer in/(transfer out)
	-
	-
	(9,023)
	(52,276)
	(1,607)
	-
	(62,906)

	Accumulated depreciation on disposals
	-
	(514)
	(10,343)
	(55,346)
	(7,252)
	-
	(73,455)

	Translation adjustments
	-
	(609)
	(3,702)
	(26,145)
	(1,081)
	-
	(31,537)

	31 December 2019
	-
	297,442
	1,998,560
	12,651,098
	232,233
	-
	15,179,333


	Allowance for impairment loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	-
	7,680
	16,226
	2,629,827
	-
	13,068
	2,666,801

	Increase during the year
	-
	-
	1,013
	11,996
	-
	2,135
	15,144

	Translation adjustments
	-
	-
	-
	(938)
	-
	-
	(938)

	31 December 2018
	-
	7,680
	17,239
	2,640,885
	-
	15,203
	2,681,007

	Increase during the year
	-
	-
	(1,265)
	176,957
	-
	-
	175,692

	Translation adjustments
	-
	-
	-
	(9,332)
	-
	-
	(9,332)

	31 December 2019
	-
	7,680
	15,974
	2,808,510
	-
	15,203
	2,847,367

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2018
	579,007
	59,559
	454,903
	2,579,389
	67,769
	2,004,520
	5,745,147

	31 December 2019
	596,966
	48,882
	302,314
	1,330,566
	50,487
	2,277,086
	4,606,301

	Depreciation for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2018 (Baht 1,253 million included in cost of sales and services, and the balance in selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses)
	1,458,424

	2019 (Baht 1,332 million included in cost of sales and services, and the balance in selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses)
	1,479,930


 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Revaluation basis
	Cost basis
	

	
	
	Buildings and
	Office
	Tools and
	Motor
	Assets under
	

	
	Land
	improvement
	equipment
	equipment
	vehicles
	installation
	Total

	Cost/Revalued amount
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	241,551
	175,496
	570,017
	124,064
	56,655
	1,130
	1,168,913

	Additions
	-
	121
	1,284
	689
	500
	236,198
	238,792

	Transferred in/(transfer out)
	-
	1,436
	1,324
	227,417
	-
	(230,177)
	-

	Disposals
	-
	-
	(1,942)
	-
	(2,758)
	-
	(4,700)

	31 December 2018
	241,551
	177,053
	570,683
	352,170
	54,397
	7,151
	1,403,005

	Additions
	-
	-
	5,803
	4,794
	-
	1,830
	12,427

	Transferred in/(transfer out)
	-
	-
	6,948
	(214,434)
	(3,453)
	(6,983)
	(217,922)

	Transfer to expense
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(258)
	(258)

	Disposals
	-
	(514)
	(3,086)
	(14,904)
	-
	-
	(18,504)

	Revaluations
	(5,996)
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	(5,996)

	31 December 2019
	235,555
	176,539
	580,348
	127,626
	50,944
	1,740
	1,172,752

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	-
	158,505
	512,508
	121,617
	38,607
	-
	831,237

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	5,624
	16,906
	10,642
	5,274
	-
	38,446

	Accumulated depreciation on disposals
	-
	-
	(1,939)
	-
	(2,402)
	-
	(4,341)

	31 December 2018
	-
	164,129
	527,475
	132,259
	41,479
	-
	865,342

	Depreciation for the year
	-
	4,555
	19,862
	26,642
	4,388
	-
	55,447

	Accumulated depreciation on transfer out
	-
	-
	(7)
	(32,972)
	(1,060)
	-
	(34,039)

	Accumulated depreciation on disposals
	-
	(514)
	(3,006)
	(4,319)
	-
	-
	(7,839)

	31 December 2019
	-
	168,170
	544,324
	121,610
	44,807
	-
	878,911

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2018
	241,551
	12,924
	43,208
	219,911
	12,918
	7,151
	537,663

	31 December 2019
	235,555
	8,369
	36,024
	6,016
	6,137
	1,740
	293,841

	Depreciation for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2018 (Baht 10 million included in cost of services, and the balance in administrative expenses)
	
	
	38,446

	2019 (Baht 25 million included in cost of services, and the balance in administrative expenses)
	
	
	55,447


a)
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had vehicles and equipment under finance lease agreements with net book values of Baht 36 million and Separate financial statements: Baht 7 million (2018: Baht 52 million and Separate financial statements: Baht 16 million).
b)
As at 31 December 2019, certain items of building and equipment of the Group were fully depreciated but are still in use.  The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated depreciation and allowance for impairment loss of those assets amounted to approximately Baht 14,393 million and Separate financial statements: Baht 727 million (2018: Baht 9,169 million and Separate financial statements: Baht 692 million).
c)

The Company and subsidiaries arranged for an independent professional valuer to appraise the value of land during the fourth quarter of 2019, using the market comparison approach. As a result of the reappraisal, the carrying surplus on revaluation of land increased by approximately Baht 29 million (Separate financial statements: Baht 5 million) and loss on revaluation of land by approximately Baht 11 million (Separate financial statements: Baht 11 million).

Had the land carried in the financial statements based on historical cost basis, their net book value as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 would have been as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated                   financial statements
	Separate                            financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Land
	124,192
	124,192
	87,649
	87,649


d)

Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, received some of                      the equipment transferred from The State Secretariat of Civil Aviation of Cambodia (“SSCA”) under a Build Cooperate and Transfer contract with Government of Cambodia.                  The subsidiary company must return all equipment to SSCA at the end of the contract. Currently the above equipment are transferred to intangible assets (service concession) in accordance with TFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements, as described in Note 44.5 a) to the financial statements.

20.
Goodwill


Mainly of Goodwill was arising from the Company bought shares of Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. and Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd. and Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.,              a subsidiary company, bought shares of Portalnet Co., Ltd.

The Group has determined recoverable amounts of their cash generating units (CGUs) based on value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by the management covering 5 - 22 years, which some of them are based on the contract period.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations summarise as follows:

(Unit: Percent per annum)
	
	2019
	2018

	Growth rate
	3 - 13
	0 - 12

	Discount rate
	12 - 16
	10 - 16



The management has considered the growth rate based on historical operating results,                the expected market growth rate, the rate of gross domestic product growth and                        the discount rate which are the pre-tax rates that reflects the specific risk of the particular operating segment.


After consideration, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the management believed that goodwill is not impaired.
21.
Intangible assets
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Service concession
	Computer software 
	Right for               air time
	Right for telecommunication tower service  
	Total

	Cost 
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018 
	1,146,083
	1,139,279
	3,191
	42,665
	2,331,218

	Addition during the year
	106,581
	114,598
	-
	-
	221,179

	Write off
	(2,157)
	(1,036)
	-
	-
	(3,193)

	Transfer in
	-
	1,412
	-
	-
	1,412

	Translation adjustments
	(7,383)
	(1,082)
	-
	-
	(8,465)

	31 December 2018
	1,243,124
	1,253,171
	3,191
	42,665
	2,542,151

	Addition during the year
	142,642
	51,829
	-
	42,764
	237,235

	Write off
	-
	(550,000)
	-
	-
	(550,000)

	Transfer in
	33,985
	1,350
	-
	24,064
	59,399

	Translation adjustments
	(98,360)
	(10,745)
	-
	-
	(109,105)

	31 December 2019
	1,321,391
	745,605
	3,191
	109,493
	2,179,680

	Accumulated amortisation
	
	
	
	
	

	1 January 2018
	436,069
	398,564
	1,914
	-
	836,547

	Amortisation during the year
	56,991
	55,965
	638
	4,854
	118,448

	Translation adjustments
	(2,551)
	(889)
	-
	-
	(3,440)

	31 December 2018
	490,509
	453,640
	2,552
	4,854
	951,555

	Amortisation during the year
	49,527
	82,305
	639
	8,105
	140,576

	Translation adjustments
	(36,766)
	(9,541)
	-
	-
	(46,307)

	31 December 2019
	503,270
	526,404
	3,191
	12,959
	1,045,824

	Net book value 
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2018 
	752,615
	799,531
	639
	37,811
	1,590,596

	31 December 2019
	818,121
	219,201
	-
	96,534
	1,133,856


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate                  financial statements

	
	Computer software 

	Cost 
	

	1 January 2018
	58,743

	Addition during the year
	29

	31 December 2018
	58,772

	Addition during the year
	48

	31 December 2019
	58,820

	Accumulated amortisation
	

	1 January 2018
	5,977

	Amortisation during the year
	5,875

	31 December 2018
	11,852

	Amortisation during the year
	5,879

	31 December 2019
	17,731

	Net book value 
	

	31 December 2018
	46,920

	31 December 2019
	41,089



Service concession 

Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has service concession arrangement which can be summarised as follows:

Name of concession:
Contract to build, cooperate and transfer on air traffic control system (BCT contract)

Description of arrangement:
To develop and sole operate of the civil air traffic control and navigation system of Cambodia

Period of concession:
39 years expire in the year 2041
Significant conditions:
The subsidiary company is obliged to pay a fee to the Royal Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia based on its revenue. In addition, the subsidiary company has to transfer the ownership of the civil air traffic control, navigation system and all equipment to the Kingdom of Cambodia at the end of concession period without charge.


Right for air time

On 26 December 2014, I-Sport Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, purchased shares of                 Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, with mutually agreed price.  As a result of the purchase of investment under the acquisition method, the subsidiary company recorded the right for air time of sport program as intangible assets with five years useful lives.


Right for telecommunication tower service

On 1 September 2017, Samart Digital Public Company Limited, a subsidiary company, purchased shares of Thai Base Station Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, with mutually agreed price. As a result of the purchase of investment under the acquisition method,                 the subsidiary company recorded the right for telecommunication tower service as intangible assets with ten years useful lives. 

During the year 2019, Thai Base Station Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has transferred telecommunication tower to Department of National Parks, Wildlife and Plant Conservation. As a result, the subsidiary company recorded the right for telecommunication tower service as intangible assets with agreement term useful lives. 
22.
Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions 

	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Interest rate (percent per annum)
	Consolidated                        financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Bank overdrafts
	MOR, MOR minus fixed rate per annum
	MOR, MOR minus fixed rate per annum
	2
	138
	-
	-

	Short-term loans from financial institutions
	MMR, twelve-month fixed deposit plus fixed          rate per annum
	MMR, MLR minus fixed rate per             annum,               twelve-month fixed deposit plus fixed          rate per annum
	6,541,761
	5,801,445
	1,630,000
	1,290,000

	Trust receipts
	MMR
	MMR
	655,048
	463,865
	-
	-

	Total
	
	
	7,196,811
	6,265,448
	1,630,000
	1,290,000


Bank overdrafts, short-term loans from financial institutions and trust receipts of subsidiaries are secured by the pledge of certain bank deposits of the subsidiaries, cross-guarantee by the Group, transfer and assign of right over collection of any contract/project as specified in loan agreements, and is guaranteed by the Company, its subsidiaries and Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd. The Company’s short-term loan from financial institutions is unsecured.

On 22 June 2018, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into             a memorandum of amendment of loan agreement with a commercial bank in order to revise term of payment of short-term loan of Baht 359 million to the new maturity within                          30 December 2024 (as mentioned in Note 26).

On 21 December 2018, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company,  entered into a loan agreement with a commercial bank in order to revise term of repayment of short-term loan of Baht 200 million to extend the new maturity within 30 December 2024 (as mentioned in Note 26). 

On 25 September 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into a debt restructuring agreement with an asset management company that received the transfer of accounts receivable factoring and repayment from a commercial bank in order to amend the terms of repayment of short-term loan of Baht 194 million to the new maturity within the end of December 2024 (as mentioned in Note 26). 

In addition, short-term loan agreements with banks of the Group contain certain conditions as specified in the agreements that require the Group to comply.

23.
Trade and other payables
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated

financial statements
	Separate

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Trade accounts payable - related parties (Note 6)
	8,073
	940
	115,850
	114,396

	Trade accounts payable - unrelated parties
	1,078,415
	1,051,400
	11
	550

	Other payables - related parties 
	6,347
	6,697
	4,190
	3,595

	Accrued interest expenses to related parties 
	-
	-
	2,789
	2,090

	Total other payables and accrued interest expenses - related parties (Note 6)
	6,347
	6,697
	6,979
	5,685

	Other payables - unrelated parties
	410,646
	449,136
	8,482
	15,110

	Other payables for purchase of machinery and equipment
	106,070
	562,357
	1,361
	89,610

	Accrued expenses
	427,242
	251,306
	13,001
	10,323

	Accrued interest expenses to unrelated parties
	17,696
	28,071
	5,782
	5,739

	Total trade and other payables
	2,054,489
	2,349,907
	151,466
	241,413


24.
Short-term loans

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                    financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Short-term loans from related parties (Note 6)
	-
	-
	347,425
	669,956

	Short-term loans from unrelated parties
	22,140
	22,140
	-
	-

	Total short-term loans
	22,140
	22,140
	347,425
	669,956



Short-term loans from unrelated parties

Short-term loan as at 31 December 2019 amounting Baht 22.1 million (2018: Baht 22.1 million) from Siam Sport Syndicate Public Co., Ltd., carries interest at the 12-month fixed deposit rate of the big five commercial banks plus 0.50 percent per annum.
25.
Debentures


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                    financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Debentures 
	1,650,000
	2,000,000
	1,250,000
	1,250,000

	Less: Current portion of debentures 
	(1,650,000)
	(750,000)
	(1,250,000)
	-

	Debentures - net of current portion 
	-
	1,250,000
	-
	1,250,000


Movements in the debenture account for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated                    financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Balance at beginning of year
	2,000,000
	3,765,000
	1,250,000
	2,500,000

	Add: Debentures issued during the year 
	1,500,000
	1,460,000
	-
	-

	Less: Redemption of debentures during the year
	(1,850,000)
	(3,225,000)
	-
	(1,250,000)

	Balance at end of year
	1,650,000
	2,000,000
	1,250,000
	1,250,000


As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, debentures are unsubordinated, unsecured debentures with registered name and carried fixed interests rate per annum as stipulated in each debenture with repayment from 2017 to 2020.

26. 
Long-term loans from financial institutions


The details of long-term loans from financial institutions as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were summarised below.

	
	Credit
	Significant terms and conditions of loan agreements
	Consolidated                       financial statements

	No.
	facilities
	Repayment term
	Collateral 
	Interest rate
	2019
	2018

	
	(Million Baht)
	
	
	(percent per annum)
	(Thousand Baht)
	(Thousand Baht)

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	
	

	1.


	493
	Repayment of the first installment in March 2018, with quarterly payment of principal and monthly payment of interest to be completed within the 28th installment. (i.e. within December 2024)
-
Installment 1 - 4: Baht 0.05 million each 

-
Installment 5 - 8: Baht 7.4 million each

-
Installment 9 - 12: Baht 19.7 million each

-
Installment 13 - 16: Baht 22.2 million each

-
Installment 17 - 27: Baht 24.7 million each

-
Installment 28: payment of the remaining principal and interest

	-
	MLR minus  fixed rate per annum
	463,223
	492,803

	2.
	359
	Repayment on a quarterly basis within 30 December 2024 

-
Year 2018: quarterly installments of Baht 0.04 million 

-
Year 2019: quarterly installments of Baht 5.4 million

-
Year 2020: quarterly installments of Baht 14.3 million

-
Year 2021: quarterly installments of Baht 16.2 million 

-
Year 2022 - 2024: quarterly installments of Baht 17.9 million
	-
	MLR minus fixed rate per annum
	337,213
	358,782


	
	Credit
	Significant terms and conditions of loan agreements
	Consolidated                       financial statements

	No.
	facilities
	Repayment term
	Collateral 
	Interest rate
	2019
	2018

	
	(Million Baht)
	
	
	(percent per annum)
	(Thousand Baht)
	(Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	3.
	200
	Repayment on a quarterly basis within 25th installment within 30 December 2024 

-
Installment 1: Baht 0.02 million each 

-
Installment 2 -5: Baht 3 million each

-
Installment 6 - 9: Baht 7.98 million each

-
Installment 10 - 13: Baht 9 million each

-
Installment 14 - 25: Baht 10 million each
	-
	MLR minus fixed rate per annum
	187,920
	199,920

	4.
	194
	Repayment on a quarterly basis within the 22nd installment within 30 December 2024

-
Installment 1 - 2: Baht 3 million each 

-
Installment 3 - 6: Baht 7.98 million each

-
Installment 7 - 10: Baht 9 million each

-
Installment 11 - 22: Baht 10 million each
	-
	-
Fixed rate per annum for the first 12 months 

-
Average MLR of 4 major banks minus fixed rate per annum
	187,920
	-

	Vision and Security System Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	5.
	270
	The loan principal is repayable on a monthly basis by 41 installments commencing from the first month in which the subsidiary receives the right assignment (31 July 2018).                  The interest is to be paid on monthly basis.


	As assignment of the right to receive service fees from the installation and rental CCTV project. 


	MLR minus fixed rate per annum
	65,379
	150,579


	
	Credit
	Significant terms and conditions of loan agreements
	Consolidated                       financial statements

	No.
	facilities
	Repayment term
	Collateral 
	Interest rate
	2019
	2018

	
	(Million Baht)
	
	
	(percent per annum)
	(Thousand Baht)
	(Thousand Baht)

	Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. and Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	6.
	2,081

(USD 66 million)
	Repayment on three-month period basis by 28 installments commencing in May 2018.

-
Installment 1 - 4: USD 1.13 million each 

-
Installment 5 - 12: USD 1.51 million each 

-
Installment 13 - 20: USD 2.26 million each

-
Installment 21 - 24: USD 3.39 million each

-
Installment 25 - 28:
 USD 4.52 million each
	Certain assets
	LIBOR (3-month)
	1,348,226
	1,944,156

	Translation adjustments
	
	
	
	
	(138,598)
	77,146

	Total long-term loans from financial institutions
	
	
	
	
	2,451,283
	3,223,386

	Less: Current portion
	
	
	
	
	(883,245)
	(850,982)

	Long-term loans - net of current portion
	
	
	
	
	1,568,038
	2,372,404



Movements in the long-term loans account during the year ended 31 December 2019 was summarised below.
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	Balance as at beginning of year
	3,223,386

	Add: 
Convert from short-term loan (Note 22)
	193,920

	Less:
Repayment
	(827,425)

	Translation adjustments
	(138,598)

	Balance as at end of year
	2,451,283


On 26 January 2018, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into           a supplemental agreement to increase loan facility with a commercial bank of Baht 243 million in order to make repayment for short-term loans from bank. 
Under Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.’s loan agreement, the subsidiary company must comply with the conditions stipulated in the agreement, such as maintaining the percentage shareholdings of the Company in Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.’s group and maintaining of certain financial ratios.

Based on the financial statements, as at 31 December 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, was unable to maintain certain financial ratios as stipulated in the loan agreements with the aforementioned banks. Therefore, the loan of Baht 525 million, is payable on demand. The subsidiary company classifies this loan as current portion.
27.
Liabilities under finance lease agreements 
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated              financial statements
	Separate             financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	37,013
	48,400
	10,320
	21,887

	Less: Deferred interest expenses
	(1,404)
	(2,468)
	(228)
	(781)

	Total
	35,609
	45,932
	10,092
	21,106

	Less: Portion due within one year 
	(11,898)
	(13,623)
	(6,230)
	(8,628)

	Liabilities under finance lease                                                agreements - net of current portion
	23,711
	32,309
	3,862
	12,478


The Group has entered into the finance lease agreements with leasing companies for rental of equipment and motor vehicles for use in their operation, whereby the finance lease agreements carried interests between 2.59 and 7.50 percent per annum (2018: between 2.59 and 8.19 percent per annum) and they are committed to pay rental on a monthly basis.                  The terms of the agreements are generally between 3 and 5 years. 


The Group has future minimum lease payments required under the finance lease agreements were as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Less than 1 year 
	1-5 years
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Future minimum lease payments
	12,739
	14,888
	24,274
	33,512
	37,013
	48,400

	Deferred interest expenses
	(841)
	(1,265)
	(563)
	(1,203)
	(1,404)
	(2,468)

	Present value of future minimum lease payments 
	11,898
	13,623
	23,711
	32,309
	35,609
	45,932


	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Less than 1 year 
	1-5 years
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Future minimum lease payments
	6,392
	9,099
	3,928
	12,788
	10,320
	21,887

	Deferred interest expenses
	(162)
	(471)
	(66)
	(310)
	(228)
	(781)

	Present value of future minimum lease payments 
	6,230
	8,628
	3,862
	12,478
	10,092
	21,106


28.
Provisions

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Warranties

	
	Consolidated                       financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Balance at beginning of year
	189,990
	241,495
	17,650
	55,283

	Increase during the year
	69,313
	65,386
	-
	-

	Utilised
	(42,647)
	(114,440)
	(13,725)
	(37,633)

	Reversal of provisions
	(7,293)
	(2,451)
	-
	-

	Translation adjustments
	(3,156)
	-
	-
	-

	Balance at end of year
	206,207
	189,990
	3,925
	17,650


	
	Consolidated                       financial statements
	Separate                              financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Provision
	
	
	
	

	Current 
	92,268
	83,307
	3,925
	17,650

	Non-current 
	113,939
	106,683
	-
	-

	 
	206,207
	189,990
	3,925
	17,650


 
Warranties

 
The Group recognised a provision for expected warranty claims on products and equipment of the contract, based on past experience of the level of repairs. The Group expected most of these costs to be incurred in the next financial year and all to have been incurred within the remaining warranty periods. In calculating the provision for warranties, the Group applied assumptions, based on current contract levels and current information available for all types of contract about warranties of products and equipment and changes in technology.

29.
Other current liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                        financial statements
	Separate                           financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Unearned revenue
	536,217
	512,638
	237
	262

	Deposits
	188,283
	37,715
	-
	-

	Undue output tax
	97,846
	100,147
	-
	-

	Value added tax payable
	12,066
	20,583
	-
	-

	Others
	53,337
	98,235
	2,092
	7,687

	Total
	887,749
	769,318
	2,329
	7,949


30.
Provision for long-term employee benefits


Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensation payable to employees after they retire, was as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year
	218,687
	211,965
	25,262
	43,347

	Included in profit or loss:
	
	
	
	

	Current service cost 
	29,278
	31,545
	1,138
	1,750

	Interest cost 
	5,431
	4,915
	572
	647

	Past service cost
	61,856
	112
	8,721
	-

	Included in other comprehensive income:
	
	
	
	

	Actuarial (gain) loss arising from
	
	
	
	

	Demographic assumptions changes
	1,270
	-
	90
	-

	Financial assumptions changes
	24,481
	(9,048)
	2,251
	(675)

	Experience adjustments
	(3,517)
	(16,006)
	3,124
	(3,256)

	Transfer employees
	-
	-
	724
	(16,323)

	Benefits paid during the year
	(8,351)
	(4,796)
	(723)
	(228)

	Unrealised loss on exchange
	206
	-
	-
	-

	Translation adjustments
	(1,365)
	-
	-
	-

	Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year
	327,976
	218,687
	41,159
	25,262



On 5 April 2019, The Labor Protection Act (No. 7) B.E. 2562 was announced in the Royal Gazette. This stipulates additional legal severance pay rates for employees who have worked for an uninterrupted period of twenty years or more, with such employees entitled to receive not less than 400 days’ compensation at the latest wage rate. The law was effective from 5 May 2019. This change is considered a post-employment benefits plan amendment and the Group has additional long-term employee benefit liabilities of Baht 62 million (Separate financial statements: Baht 9 million) as a result. The Group reflects the effect of the change by recognising past service costs as expenses in the income statement of the current period.

The Group expects to pay Baht 10 million of long-term employee benefits during the next year (Separate financial statements: None) (2018: Baht 8 million, Separate financial statements: Baht 0.7 million).


As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term employee benefit is 7 - 20 years (Separate financial statements: 9 years) (2018: 8 - 27 years, Separate financial statements: 9 years). 


Key actuarial assumptions are summarised below.
(Unit: percent per annum)
	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Discount rate
	1.3 - 2.0
	0 - 3.5
	1.4
	2.3

	Salary increase rate 
	2.0 - 6.0
	2.5 - 6.3
	3.5 - 6.0
	3.0 - 6.3

	Turnover rate 
	0 - 32
	0 - 30
	2 - 24
	2 - 27



The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were summarised below.
	
	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	Liability increase (decrease)
	Liability increase (decrease)

	
	Increase 1%
	Decrease 1%
	Increase 1%
	Decrease 1%

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Discount rate
	(26.8)
	(17.7)
	31.0
	20.4
	(2.6)
	(1.6)
	2.9
	1.8

	Salary increase rate
	29.7
	19.2
	(26.4)
	(16.9)
	2.8
	1.7
	(2.6)
	(1.6)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Increase 20%
	Decrease 20%
	Increase 20%
	Decrease 20%

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Turnover rate
	(31.7)
	(19.4)
	35.1
	24.0
	(2.5)
	(1.5)
	2.7
	1.7


31.
Share capital 


On 27 April 2018, an Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company passed                  the resolutions approving the following.



Decrease in registered share capital 


The meeting approved a reduction in the registered share capital from Baht 1,208 million (1,207,804,692 ordinary shares of Baht 1 per share) to Baht 1,007 million (1,006,503,910 ordinary shares of Baht 1 per share) by cancelling the 201,300,782 ordinary shares with             a par value of Baht 1 each, reserved for the exercise of 1st warrants (“SAMART-W warrant”). The Company registered the reduction in share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 2 May 2018.


Issuance of the warrants 

The meeting approved the issuance of 2nd warrants (“SAMART-W2 warrant”) not over 335,501,303 warrants, with the offering price per unit begin Baht 0, to the existing shareholders at the exercise ratio of 3:1. The warrants have three years maturity from        the issuance date and the exercise price is Baht 15 per share. The warrants can be exercised on the last business day of every 6 months from the issuance date of SAMART-W2 throughout the term of the warrants.

The Company fixed the Record Date on 9 May 2018 for determining the shareholders for entitlement to receive warrants.

Increase in registered share capital 


The meeting approved the increase in its registered share capital from Baht 1,007 million (1,006,503,910 ordinary shares of Baht 1 per share) to Baht 1,342 million (1,342,005,213 ordinary shares of Baht 1 per share) through the issuance of 335,501,303 additional ordinary shares of Baht 1 each to be allocated of not more than 335,501,303 shares, with           a par value of Baht 1 per share, to accommodate the exercise of the warrants as described above. The Company registered the increase in registered of share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on 3 May 2018.

32.
Statutory reserve


Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside as a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net profit for the year after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward (if any) until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered share capital. The statutory reserve could not be used for dividend payment. During the year, the Company set aside a statutory reserve totaling Baht 13 million.
33.
Revenue from contracts with customers 

33.1 
Disaggregated revenue information

	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated                         financial statements
	Separate                                financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Type of revenue:
	
	
	
	

	Revenues from sales
	847
	640
	-
	-

	Revenues from contract work
	6,494
	5,032
	-
	-

	Service income
	6,793
	6,512
	51
	19

	Total revenue from contracts with customers
	14,134
	12,184
	51
	19

	Timing of revenue recognition:
	
	
	
	

	Revenue recognised at a point in time
	2,904
	2,590
	51
	19

	Revenue recognised over time
	11,230
	9,594
	-
	-

	Total revenue from contracts with customers
	14,134
	12,184
	51
	19


33.2
Contract balances

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Contract assets
	
	
	
	

	Accrued income
	4,229,041
	3,100,909
	930
	561

	Retention receivable
	174,640
	160,376
	-
	-

	Total contract assets
	4,403,681
	3,261,285
	930
	561

	Less: Allowance for impairment loss
	(2,220)
	-
	-
	-

	Total contract assets, net
	4,401,461
	3,261,285
	930
	561

	
	
	
	
	

	Contract liabilities
	
	
	
	

	Unearned revenue
	536,217
	512,638
	237
	262

	Total contract liabilities
	536,217
	512,638
	237
	262



During the current year, the Group recognised provision for expected credit losses on contract assets by Baht 2.2 million (separate financial statements: nil).

33.3
Revenue recognised in relation to contract balances

	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated                              financial statements

	
	2019

	Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the year
	127


33.4
Revenue to be recognised for the remaining performance obligations 


As at 31 December 2019, revenue totaling Baht 10,300 million is expected to be recognised in the future in respect of performance obligations under contracts with customers that are unsatisfied. The subsidiaries expect to satisfy these performance obligations within 7 years.

33.5
Assets recognised in respect of costs to fulfill a contract with a customer 

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                financial statements
	Separate                      financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Net book value at beginning of year
	180,293
	206,761
	15,000
	-

	Addition
	9,655,722
	8,010,685
	53,310
	15,000

	Transfer to cost
	(9,584,764)
	(8,020,605)
	-
	-

	Amortisation
	(15,000)
	-
	(15,000)
	-

	Impairment loss
	(237)
	(16,548)
	-
	-

	Net book value at end of year
	236,014
	180,293
	53,310
	15,000


34.
Other income
 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                financial statements
	Separate                      financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Management fee income (Note 6)
	-
	-
	57,553
	82,411

	Selling support income
	142
	1,820
	-
	-

	Interest income
	68,372
	41,070
	16,165
	39,804

	Gain on exchange 
	37,543
	-
	25,193
	-

	Gain on revaluation of investment properties (Note 18)
	800
	-
	-
	-

	Gain on disposal of equipment 
	2,808
	-
	950
	423

	Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries
	-
	1,949
	-
	-

	Gain on reversal of allowance for doubtful debts
	13,191
	-
	-
	-

	Dividend income from subsidiaries (Note 16)
	-
	-
	251,818
	2,688,526

	Dividend income from current investments in trading securities
	400
	340
	245
	205

	IT service fee from subsidiary companies (Note 6)
	-
	-
	95,476
	95,354

	Gain on compensation received from

    insurance
	577
	95
	-
	95

	Others
	72,278
	62,649
	86,228
	149,336

	Total
	196,111
	107,923
	533,628
	3,056,154


35.
Expenses by nature

Significant expenses by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                financial statements
	Separate                financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Salaries, wages and other employee benefits
	2,169,071
	2,118,620
	104,275
	87,963

	Promotion and advertising expenses
	32,780
	56,077
	777
	2,862

	Revenue sharing under service concession arrangement
	815,236
	782,921
	-
	-

	Decrease in changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 
	77,133
	247,350
	-
	-

	Provision for doubtful debts 
	-
	929,136
	-
	-

	Depreciation
	1,479,930
	1,458,424
	55,447
	38,446

	Rental expenses from operating lease agreements
	215,928
	249,544
	51,998
	48,365

	Raw materials and consumables used
	35,676
	59,807
	-
	-

	Loss on change in value of temporary investments in trading securities 
	1,324
	53
	1,252
	1,084

	Loss on impairment of investments in subsidiaries
	-
	-
	45,984
	262,759

	Amortisation expenses
	153,098
	130,970
	18,402
	18,397

	Raw materials, equipment and cost of projects used    
	6,661,226
	4,377,319
	-
	-

	Purchase finished goods for sales  
	197,647
	150,161
	-
	-

	Loss on impairment of equipment   
	175,692
	15,144
	-
	-


36.
Other expenses

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated               financial statements
	Separate                     financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Loss on impairment of equipment
	175,692
	15,144
	-
	-

	Provision for doubtful debts
	-
	929,136
	-
	-

	Allowance for diminution in value to subsidiary company 
	-
	-
	36,999
	-

	Write-off withholding tax deducted at source
	34,001
	152,627
	1,554
	15,851

	Loss on change in value of current investments in trading securities (Note 8)
	1,324
	53
	1,252
	1,084

	Loss on disposal of equipments 
	-
	3,221
	-
	-

	Loss on impairment of investments in subsidiaries
	-
	-
	45,984
	262,759

	Loss from liquidation of subsidiary 
	-
	-
	-
	85

	Write-off equipments
	1,148
	15,173
	-
	-

	Loss on revaluation of land
	10,831
	-
	10,831
	-

	Loss on exchange
	-
	80,600
	-
	3,912

	Loss on changes in value of investment held-for-sale (Note 15)
	71,112
	-
	-
	-

	Others
	1,669
	9,283
	-
	-

	Total other expenses
	295,777
	1,205,237
	96,620
	283,691


37.
Finance cost

	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated                           financial statements
	Separate                             financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Interest expenses on:
	
	
	
	

	Bank loans, overdrafts and trust receipts and debentures
	540,434
	513,734
	111,180
	129,831

	Loans from related parties
	-
	-
	12,279
	9,497

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	1,329
	1,840
	415
	729

	Long-term provision under service concession
	1,556
	-
	-
	-

	Total interest expenses
	543,319
	515,574
	123,874
	140,057

	Bank charges
	18,401
	32,548
	5,886
	4,409

	Total finance cost
	561,720
	548,122
	129,760
	144,466


38.
Income tax 

38.1
Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are made up as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Current income tax:
	
	
	
	

	Current income tax charge
	241,984
	202,890
	3,371
	1,637

	Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year
	(7,255)
	(652)
	-
	71

	Deferred tax:
	
	
	
	

	Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  
	(213,422)
	247,815
	(925)
	9,321

	Income tax expense reported in profit or loss
	21,307
	450,053
	2,446
	11,029


38.2
The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Deferred tax relating to loss on changes in value of available-for-sale investments
	(14,759)
	4,352
	-
	-

	Deferred tax relating to gain on actuarial gain (loss)
	3,476
	(3,844)
	1,093
	(786)

	Deferred tax relating to relating to revaluation surplus on land
	(5,802)
	-
	(967)
	-

	Total
	(17,085)
	508
	126
	(786)


38.3
The reconciliation between accounting profit (loss) and income tax expenses was shown below.
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	
	
	
	
	

	Accounting profit (loss) before tax
	525,822
	(813,870)
	11,557
	2,366,172

	
	
	
	
	

	Applicable tax rate
	Exempt - 30%
	Exempt - 30%
	Exempt - 20%
	Exempt - 20%

	Accounting profit (loss) before tax multiplied by applicable tax rate
	106,177
	(167,275)
	(3,501)
	112,693

	Adjustment in respect of current income tax 

of previous year
	(7,255)
	(652)
	-
	71

	Effects of:
	
	
	
	

	Promotional privileges 
	(4,349)
	(7,696)
	-
	-

	Utilisation of tax loss carry forward
	(14,670)
	(14,276)
	-
	-

	Non-deductible expenses
	17,627
	47,808
	18,643
	49,681

	Additional expense deductions allowed
	(58,938)
	(64,590)
	(355)
	(1,199)

	Income not subject to tax
	(208)
	4,420
	(50,413)
	(181,865)

	Non-deductible taxable income
	(20,856)
	-
	-
	-

	Adjustment of taxable income from exchange rate
	26,914
	(4,445)
	-
	-

	Others
	1,578
	1,502
	(857)
	857

	Total
	(52,902)
	(37,277)
	(32,982)
	(132,526)

	Deferred tax assets not recognised
	139,951
	602,161
	38,929
	30,791

	Additional recognition of deferred tax assets from tax losses
	(14,403)
	-
	-
	-

	Decrease in deferred tax assets not recognised
	(154,235)
	-
	-
	-

	Reversal of deferred tax asset
	3,974
	63,924
	-
	-

	Reversal of share of gain loss from liquidation subsidiaries
	-
	(10,828)
	-
	-

	Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss
	21,307
	450,053
	2,446
	11,029


38.4
The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Statements of financial position

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	

	Loss on changes in value of available-for-sale investments
	18,490
	33,249
	-
	-

	Allowance for doubtful debts
	20,557
	19,516
	-
	-

	Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
	37,376
	89,246
	-
	-

	Allowance for asset impairment
	59,680
	10,257
	-
	-

	Accumulated depreciation - Equipment
	83,497
	64,781
	-
	900

	Provision for long-term employee benefits
	61,362
	37,130
	8,232
	5,052

	Accrued vacation leave 
	1,186
	1,080
	111
	77

	Unused tax loss 
	486,053
	402,155
	-
	-

	Unrealised loss from revaluation of trading investments
	13,479
	12,987
	2,970
	2,719

	Provision for maintenance warranties
	9,479
	12,535
	783
	3,530

	Others
	100,813
	13,371
	3,324
	1,194

	Total
	891,972
	696,307
	15,420
	13,472

	Deferred tax liabilities 
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated amortisation - License
	6,667
	255
	-
	-

	Accumulated amortisation - Intangible assets
	94,047
	101,094
	-
	-

	Surplus on revaluation of land
	94,554
	91,613
	32,442
	31,475

	Other receivables - unrelated parties 
	17,564
	17,564
	-
	-

	Others
	6,779
	17,060
	28
	98

	Total
	219,611
	227,586
	(32,470)
	31,573

	Deferred tax - net
	672,361
	468,721
	(17,050)
	(18,101)


Deferred tax assets and liabilities in statement of financial position were as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Statements of financial position

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Deferred tax assets
	821,393
	636,504
	-
	-

	Deferred tax liabilities
	(149,032)
	(167,783)
	(17,050)
	(18,101)

	Deferred tax - net
	672,361
	468,721
	(17,050)
	(18,101)


38.5
As at 31 December 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, and its subsidiaries have deferred tax assets of Baht 420 million (2018: Baht 372 million) (Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.: Baht 404 million (2018: Baht 347 million)) in relation to tax loss carried forward deductible against future profit in tax calculation if the subsidiary companies have sufficient profit. 

The subsidiary company has a new business under the expertise and experience of                  the subsidiary company which are awaiting the approval during the year of 2020 and it is able to commence business operations immediately thereafter. The subsidiary company expects to gain sufficient profit to utilise tax loss carried forward. It therefore believes that it will benefit from the recorded deferred tax assets and a provision for impairment is not necessary, considering the current situation. Although the subsidiary company has evaluated and exercised its best estimate, there is still uncertainty about the changing situation, which is normal for future events that have not yet occurred.                            

38.6
As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary companies had deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses totaling Baht 3,676 million, US Dollar 0.6 million and Myanmar Kyat 38 million (2018: Baht 3,538 million, US Dollar 0.4 million and Myanmar Kyat 23 million), on which deferred tax assets have not been recognised which are summarised as below.            

	
	(Unit: Million)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2019
	2018

	
	(Baht)
	(US Dollar)
	(Myanmar Kyat)
	(Baht)
	(US Dollar)
	(Myanmar Kyat)

	Unused tax losses
	
	
	
	
	
	

	31 December 2019
	-
	-
	-
	58
	0.2
	-

	31 December 2020
	199
	-
	-
	203
	0.1
	-

	31 December 2021
	160
	-
	-
	313
	0.1
	23

	31 December 2022
	109
	-
	23
	103
	-
	-

	31 December 2023
	385
	0.1
	-
	403
	-
	-

	31 December 2024
	355
	0.5
	15
	-
	-
	-

	Deductible temporary differences
	2,468
	-
	-
	2,458
	-
	-

	
	3,676
	0.6
	38
	3,538
	0.4
	23



The Company believes that the subsidiaries’ future taxable profits may not be sufficient to allow utilisation of the temporary differences and unused tax losses.

39.
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the total sum of                       the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares which would need to be issued to convert all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The calculation assumes that the conversion took place either at the beginning of the year or on the date the potential ordinary shares were issued according to the portion of warrant exercise.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the warrants are exclude from the potential ordinary shares their exercise price is in excess of the fair value of the ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2019, there were 335,429,635 unexercised warrants (2018: 335,429,635 unexercised warrants).
40.
Dividends
	Dividends
	Approved by
	Total dividends
	Dividends per share
	Paid on

	
	
	(Million Baht)
	(Baht)
	

	2019
	
	
	
	

	Dividends from 2018 earnings 
	Annual General Meeting of the shareholders on 


26 April 2019                  
	101
	0.10
	

	Dividends from income for  the year 2018 paid in 2019
	
	101
	0.10
	23 May 2019

	2018
	
	
	
	

	Dividends from 2017 earnings 
	Annual General Meeting of the shareholders on 


27 April 2018                  
	101
	0.10
	

	Dividends from income for  the year 2017 paid in 2018
	
	101
	0.10
	23 May 2018


41.
Provident fund


The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The Group contributed to the fund monthly at the rate of 3 percent to 10 percent of basic salary and its employees contributed to the fund monthly at the rate of 3 percent to 15 percent of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited and Bank of Ayudhya Public Company Limited, will be paid to the employees upon termination in accordance with the fund rules. The contributions for the year 2019 amounting to approximately Baht 63 million (2018: Baht 63 million) (Separate financial statements: Baht 6 million (2018: Baht 5 million)) were recognised as expenses. 

42.
Promotional privileges


Subsidiaries have been granted promotional privileges under the Investment Promotion Act B.E. 2520 by the Board of Investment under certain significant conditions. Significant privileges are as follows:

	Details
	Smarterware             Co., Ltd.
	Samart eD Tech Co., Ltd.

	1.
Certificate No.
	59-1099-1-00-2-0
	1713(7)/2553

	2.
Promotional privileges for
	Software
	Software

	3.
The significant privileges are:
	
	

	3.1
Exemption from corporate income tax on net income from promoted operations commencing as from the date of first earning operating income. Furthermore, accumulated losses incurred during the corporate income tax exemption period, the subsidiary is allowed to utilise the losses as a deduction against net income for a period of 5 years after the expiry of the tax exemption period, whether from any one year or from several years.
	For a period of                     5 years                         commencing until               28 September 2022
	For a period of                    8 years                       commencing until               21 June 2019

	3.2
Exemption from income tax on dividends paid from the income of the promoted operations for which corporate income tax is exempted, throughout the corporate income tax exemption.
	Granted
	Granted

	3.3
Exemption from import duty on imported machinery for use in production as approved by the Board. 
	Ended on                          24 February 2019
	Throughout the period of promoted

	4.
Date of first earning operating income
	29 September 2017


	22 June 2011




Revenues of those subsidiary companies for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are software development services which could be divided between BOI promoted activities and Non-BOI promoted activities as follows: 
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	2019
	2018

	BOI promoted
	42,975
	62,687

	Non-BOI promoted
	43,163
	37,953

	Total service income
	86,138
	100,640


43.
Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its performance.


For management purposes, the Group is organised into business segments as follows:

	1.
	ICT Solution and Service

	Provide solutions and services in information and communication technology including Network Solutions, Enhanced Technology in ICT and Business Application ranging from consulting, system design, installation and implementation, operation and maintenance as Total Solutions and Services for clients in government and private sectors.  

	2.
	Digital 
	Provide integrated businesses in digital network, solution and content.

	3.
	Call Center 


	Provide Outsourced contact center and customer management services, and turnkey total solutions in Thailand and Cambodia and also provide digital service innovation, debt collection and training institute.

	4.
	Utilities and Transportations 
	Provide air traffic control services, electricity supply in Cambodia and also provide design and installation services of electrical power transmission systems.  

	5.
	Technology Related Services  
	Manufacture and distribution of television and radio antennas and satellite dishes, distribution, installation and maintenance of Communication and Security Systems.



The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of the business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing performance. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss and on         a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements. However, the Group financing activities (including finance costs and finance income) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.


The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is set out in Note 6 to the financial statement.
The following tables present revenue and profit and total assets/total liabilities information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the years ended 31 December

	
	ICT Solution           and Service
	Digital
	Call Center
	Utilities and Transportations
	Technology Related Services
	Adjustments and eliminations
	Consolidated

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Revenues from sales, contract work and service
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   -  Third parties
	8,992
	7,251
	949
	647
	727
	686 
	3,232
	3,384
	215
	206
	-
	-
	14,115
	12,174

	   -  Related parties
	82
	428 
	50
	97 
	29
	 25 
	-
	-
	242
	116 
	(384)
	 (655)
	19
	11 

	Total revenues from sales, contract work and service
	9,074
	7,679 
	999
	744 
	756
	 711 
	3,232
	3,384
	457
	322 
	(384)
	(655)
	14,134
	12,185

	Cost of sales, contract work and services
	7,784
	  6,564 
	812
	                  726 
	672
	 602 
	2,061
	               2,260 
	441
	                  255 
	(402)
	                                (673)
	11,368
	                        9,734 

	Gross profit 
	1,290
	1,115 
	187
	18 
	84
	109 
	1,171
	1,124 
	16
	67 
	18
	18 
	2,766
	2,451 

	Unallocated income (expenses):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	196
	108 

	Selling and distribution expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(264)
	 (397)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(1,278)
	 (1,223)

	Other expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(296)
	 (1,205)

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(562)
	 (548)

	Income tax expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(21)
	 (450)

	 Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(115)
	188 

	Profit (loss) for the year
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	426
	 (1,076)


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	As at 31 December

	
	ICT Solution           and Service
	Digital
	Call Center
	Utilities and Transportations
	Technology Related Services
	Adjustments and eliminations
	Consolidated

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivable 
	2,679
	1,507
	969
	1,489
	168
	227
	312
	673
	431
	540
	(486)
	(446)
	4,073
	3,990

	Inventories 
	111
	152
	105
	-
	3
	5
	161
	69
	95
	138
	-
	-
	475
	364

	Investment properties
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	85
	84
	-
	-
	85
	84

	Property, plant and equipment 
	1,249
	2,154
	2,624
	2,558
	61
	80
	109
	144
	596
	842
	(33)
	(33)
	4,606
	5,745

	Intangible assets
	140
	718
	102
	43
	30
	24
	871
	814
	41
	47
	(50)
	(55)
	1,134
	1,591

	Others
	5,272
	4,358
	1,529
	1,837
	713
	606
	3,216
	3,039
	7,229
	6,718
	(7,107)
	(6,908)
	10,852
	9,650

	Segment total assets
	9,451
	8,889
	5,329
	5,927
	975
	942
	4,669
	4,739
	8,477
	8,369
	(7,676)
	(7,442)
	21,225
	21,424

	Segment total liabilities
	5,669
	5,222
	4,479
	4,909
	107
	91
	2,865
	3,665
	4,379
	4,774
	(1,606)
	(2,178)
	15,893
	16,483

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Additions (decrease) to non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets
	(1,454)
	(528)
	120
	1,391
	(13)
	10
	10
	160
	(233)
	174
	9
	(16)
	(1,561)
	(1,191)


Geographic information 

Revenue from external customers is based on locations of the customers.

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	2019
	2018

	Revenue from external customers 
	
	

	Thailand
	11,945,262
	10,011,372

	Cambodia
	2,021,390
	2,086,493

	Others
	167,525
	86,935

	Total
	14,134,177
	12,184,800

	Non-current assets (other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets)
	
	

	Thailand
	5,703,188
	7,317,528

	Cambodia
	919,686
	867,194

	Total
	6,622,874
	8,184,722


Major customers

For the year 2019, its subsidiaries had revenue from three major customers totaling of                          Baht 1,853 million, mainly arising from sales by ICT Solution and Service segment, Digital segment and Utilities and Transportations segment (2018: revenue from three major customers totaling of Baht 2,969 million, mainly arising from sales by ICT Solution and Service segment and Utilities and Transportations segment).
44.
Commitments and contingent liabilities


The Group have commitments and contingent liabilities other than those disclosed in other notes as follows: 

44.1
Capital commitments 

44.1.1
As at 31 December 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, had capital commitments totally of approximately USD 15.7 million or equivalent to Baht 475 million and Baht 1 million (2018: USD 22.9 million or equivalent to Baht 748 million and Baht 3 million) and Samart Comtech Co. Ltd., another subsidiary company, had capital commitments totally of approximately Baht 28 million (2018: Baht 30 million) regarding the purchase of equipment for Digital Trunked Radio System (DTRS) services.
44.1.2
As at 31 December 2019, Thai Base Station Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company,                 had capital commitments of approximately Baht 100 million (2018: Baht 248 million), regarding the purchases of equipment and installing for telecommunication tower service for Tower-Co project.
44.1.3
As at 31 December 2019, Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, had capital commitments of approximately USD 0.5 million or equivalent to Baht 15 million (2018: USD 2 million or equivalent to Baht 64 million), regarding the additionally invest in project assets as condition stipulated in the extend agreement.
44.2
Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into lease agreements in respect of the lease of office building space, motor vehicles and equipment. The terms of the agreements are generally between 1 year until the termination notice is given.


Future minimum lease payments required under these operating leases contracts were as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated                          financial statements
	Separate                                financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Payable:
	
	
	
	

	In up to 1 year
	85
	154
	24
	49

	In over 1 and up to 5 years
	11
	69
	1
	21


44.3
Commitments in uncalled portions of investments


The subsidiaries are committed to pay the uncalled portions of their investments as follows:

	
	
	Amount (Million)

	
	Currency
	2019
	2018

	The local subsidiary companies
	Baht
	130
	134

	The overseas subsidiary companies
	USD
	3
	3


44.4
Guarantees

44.4.1
Bank guarantees


There were outstanding bank guarantees issued by the banks on behalf of                      the Group, in respect of certain performance bonds as required in the normal course of business. The details of bank guarantees are as follows:

(Unit: Million)
	
	Consolidated                      financial statements
	Separate                         financial statements

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Baht
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	6,113
	5,365
	218
	218

	Guarantee electricity use and others
	673
	286
	411
	1

	Yen
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	28
	55
	-
	-

	Euro
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	1
	2
	-
	-

	Swiss franc 
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	2
	3
	-
	-

	US Dollar
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	3
	3
	-
	-

	Chinese Yuan
	
	
	
	

	Performance guarantees
	2
	-
	-
	-


44.4.2
Related parties guarantees


Generally, these guarantees are effective for guarantor as long as the underlying obligations have not been discharged by the guaranteed party. Guarantee fees are charged by the Group. Related parties guarantees are summarised below. 

a)
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of the guarantees of subsidiaries’ loans and credit facilities provided to banks and financial institutions, as follows:

(Unit: Million)
	
	Guaranteed facilities

	
	2019
	2018

	Baht
	
	

	Teda Co., Ltd.
	3,956
	3,811

	Transec Power Services Co., Ltd.
	1,625
	1,625

	Vision and Security System Co., Ltd. 
	537
	545

	The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd.
	397
	1,152

	Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd.
	100
	100

	Suvarnabhumi Environment Care Co., Ltd.                                                                          
	72
	72

	Samart RadiTech Co., Ltd.
	40
	60

	
	6,727
	7,365

	US Dollar
	
	

	The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd.
	6
	6

	Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.
	-
	7

	
	6
	13


b)
Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has contingent liabilities in respect of the guarantees of subsidiaries’ credit facilities provided to banks as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Guaranteed facilities

	
	2019
	2018

	I-Sport Co., Ltd. and


Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd.
	51
	51

	I-Sport Co., Ltd.
	12
	12

	Samart Mobile Services Co., Ltd.
	5
	5

	Siam Sport Television Co., Ltd.
	2
	2

	Samart Mobile Services Co., Ltd.,     


Zecureasia Co., Ltd. and                                                     Teleconnext Co., Ltd.                                                                        (joint use the same facilities with Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.) 
	-
	1,785

	Zecureasia Co., Ltd. 
	-
	10


c)
As at 31 December 2019, Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, was guarantor of credit facilities and rental of equipment of its subsidiary companies from banks and a leasing company amounting to Baht 9,819 million (2018: Baht 10,105 million).  

d)
As at 31 December 2019, the Company has credit bank guarantee facilities of               Baht 1,000 million (2018: Baht 1,000 million) by the banks and has allowed Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd., full access to the credit facilities. The Samart Engineering Co., Ltd. and Suvarnabhumi Environment Care Co., Ltd. are also allowed to draw down amounts of Baht 150 million and Baht 20 million, respectively (2018: Baht 150 million and Baht 20 million, respectively), from   the credit facilities.

44.5
Other commitments 

a)
The Company has entered into the Contract to build, cooperate and transfer an air traffic control system (“BCT Contract”) with the Royal Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia.  Under this agreement, the Company has had to establish a limited liability company under the laws of the Kingdom of Cambodia to be responsible for development and sole operation of the civil air traffic control and navigation system of Cambodia for a period of 15 years with an option to extend for another 7 years in consideration of The State Secretariat of Civil Aviation of Cambodia (“SSCA”) granting the air traffic license to the Company. On 18 June 2001, the Company entered into    the assignment of “BCT Contract” with Cambodia Air Traffic Services Co., Ltd.,                   a subsidiary company, to transfer of all the Company’s rights and obligations under the “BCT Contract” to that subsidiary company pursuant to Article 2.2 of “BCT Contract” without charge. On 27 September 2007, the subsidiary requested extension to another 10 years. 
Subsequently, on 8 December 2017, the subsidiary company signed an amendment to the concession agreement with the Royal Government of   the Kingdom of Cambodia to extend the concession period for another seven years, from 2034 to 2041, whereby the subsidiary company has to additionally invest in project assets as condition stipulated in the extend agreement. 


Under the agreement, the subsidiary company is to pay remuneration to the Royal Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia in proportion to its annual income and is obliged to comply with conditions, including the condition that the ownership of         the civil air traffic control and navigation system and all equipment, which currently are transferred to intangible assets (service concession) in accordance with TFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements, is to be transferred to the Royal Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia at the end of concession period, without charge.

b)
On 15 February 2011, the Company entered into a lift maintenance service agreement with a domestic contractual partner. Under the agreement, the Company has commitment to pay service fees to its contractual partner by quarterly installments, totaling approximately Baht 1 million per quarter (2018: Baht 1 million per quarter). The agreement is expiring in 2020.

c)
Samart U-Trans Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into purchase and installment contract with various local and foreign companies. The subsidiary company obligated to comply with certain condition and to make the following payments for equipment and services as below.

	
	Amount (Million)

	Currency
	2019
	2018

	Australian dollar
	5
	-

	Baht
	2
	3

	Euro
	1
	1


d)
Teda Co., Ltd. and Transec Power Services Co., Ltd., the subsidiary companies, entered into general contractors and equipment and service purchase agreements with various companies in order to operate their construction of electrical stations and installation of electrical systems business. The subsidiary companies are obligated to comply with certain conditions and to make the payments for equipment and services of Baht 2,099 million (2018: Baht 1,625 million).  

e)
As at 31 December 2019, Vision and Security System Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into general contractors and equipment and service purchase agreements with various companies in order to maintain and install their construction of security systems. The subsidiary company is obligated to comply with certain conditions and to make the payments for equipment and services totaling of Baht 34 million (2018: None).  

Other commitments of Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd.'s group

f)
Samart Telcoms Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into transponder lease agreements with domestic and foreign contractual partners. Under the agreements, the subsidiary company had commitment to pay rental fees to its contractual partners in monthly installments, totaling approximately USD 0.1 million (2018: USD 0.2 million).

g)
Samart Infonet Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into a contract with True International Gateway Co., Ltd. related to the provision of services to an international internet exchange center. The subsidiary company is obligated to comply with                     the conditions stipulated in the contract and pay a service fee totaling approximately Baht 0.1 million per month (2018: Baht 0.1 million per month).

h)
Portalnet Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into a contract to use computer software application services with a company. The subsidiary is obligated to comply with the conditions stipulated in the contract and subsidiary company has future minimum lease payments as follows:

 (Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2019
	2018

	Payable:
	
	

	In up to 1 year
	55
	343

	In over 1 and up to 4 years
	-
	343


i)
Portalnet Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into a contract with Let Systems Ltd. to provide system maintenance services for computer software applications for core business operation by transferring the assignment to provide maintenance services from Siemens AG. The subsidiary company is obligated to comply with the conditions stipulated in the contract and pay service fee of approximately Euro 0.02 million per month (2018: Euro 0.02 million per month).

j)
Posnet Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into two agreements with a private limited company to provide system maintenance services. During the year 2015, that company charged a penalty and compensatory damages totaling Baht 8 million to                the subsidiary under these two agreements, for breaches of the conditions stipulated therein. Subsequently, the subsidiary has negotiated and received details of                                the penalties and compensatory damages from such company which the penalties and compensatory damages were changed to be Baht 4 million. However, the subsidiary’s management has considered the matters and still believes that the subsidiary will not have to pay the penalty and compensatory damages, and therefore, as at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary company has not set aside any provision in its accounts.

k)   
Samart Comtech Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into purchase and equipment installation agreements with many local companies for the development of the Land Information System (Phase 2). As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary is obligated to pay for equipment and service fee totaling approximately Baht 567 million (2018: Baht 947 million).
l)  
On 6 July 2018, Samart Communication Services Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into an agreement to enter into a consortium with Loxley System Integrator Co., Ltd. and Sky ICT Public Co., Ltd. named SSL Consortium, for the purpose of entering into a price proposal of Bandwidth Extension of Network Connecting Border and Submarine Cable Station project with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. The subsidiary company was appointed as the lead company of SSL Consortium and is authorised to act on behalf of SSL Consortium. The agreement is effective from the date that the agreement is signed and will terminate when SSL Consortium has full discharged its responsibilities under the agreement.
         Subsequently, on 20 December 2018, SSL Consortium entered into an agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. for Bandwidth Extension of Network Connecting Border and Submarine Cable Station project. Deliverables of the project were completed in July 2019 and CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. has acknowledged receipt in August 2019.
m)
Portalnet Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into purchase, equipment installation and services agreements with many companies for the installation and services for computer software applications for core business operation with Provincial Electricity Authority.  As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary is obligated to pay for equipment and service fee amounting to Baht 221 million (2018: None).
Other commitments of Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd.'s group 

n)

On 22 February 2017, TOT Public Co., Ltd. submitted a letter to the NBTC to notify the NBTC of the cancellation of the cooperation under the Memorandum of Understanding with respect to 3G mobile phone service trial project prior to notifying the cancellation to I-Mobile Plus Company Limited, a subsidiary company. On 1 March 2017, the subsidiary company submitted a letter to TOT Public Co., Ltd. and the NBTC to notify of the termination of i-mobile 3GX service because the 3GX cellular phone system was frequently disrupted and TOT Public Co., Ltd. was unable to permanently fix the problem. In addition, TOT Public Co., Ltd. has not expanded its base station following its business plan in order to expand the coverage across the country. However, the subsidiary company has prepared a recovery plan for users of i-mobile 3GX service in accordance with the conditions imposed by the NBTC. Subsequently, on 22 June 2017, the NBTC submitted to the subsidiary a letter of the termination of the Telecommunications Business License type 1 and agreed with the company’s recovery plan for the users of i-mobile 3GX. Subsequently, on 7 July 2017, the subsidiary submitted a letter notifying the NBTC that it had jointly concluded with TOT Public Company Limited that the date of discontinuing the i-mobile 3GX service would be 18 July 2017.


I-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, has been notified by TOT Public Co., Ltd. regarding the payment for Home Location Register (HLR) amounting to Baht 19 million              (2018: Baht 19 million). However, the management and the legal department of                 the subsidiary company were of the opinion that the subsidiary company was not liable to such payment because the data storage on HLR did not reach the quota as specified in the agreement. At present, the subsidiary company field a plaint to the Civil Court and it is pending the Civil Court consideration. In this regard, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, I-Mobile Plus Co., Ltd. did not set up a provision in the account.

o)
On 10 March 2017, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, entered into an agreement to enter into a consortium with Samart Communication Services Co, Ltd. named SISC Consortium, for the purpose of entering into an alliance service agreement for Digital Trunked Radio System with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd.                 Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. was appointed as the lead company of SISC Consortium and is authorised to act on behalf of SISC Consortium. The agreement is effective from the date that the agreement is signed and will terminate when SISC Consortium has fully discharged its responsibilities under the agreement. Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. is obliged to comply with duties, certain conditions and pay fees for the project as stated in the agreement. 

Subsequently, on 24 August 2017, SISC Consortium entered into a business alliance agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. in order to increase its capability to provide Digital Trunked Radio System (DTRS) services. The agreement terminates on 31 July 2025. 


On 2 October 2017, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. entered into a three-year agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. to resell digital trunked radio system services to end-users. Under the terms of the agreement, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. is obliged to pay minimum wholesale service fees at a stipulated rate.

p)
On 18 December 2018, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary, entered into an agreement to enter into a consortium with Samart Telcom Public Co, Ltd., another subsidiary company, named SS Consortium, for the purpose of entering into a price proposal of Mobile Switching Office equipment for Digital Trunked Radio System with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. was appointed as                  the lead company of SS Consortium and is authorized to act on behalf of SS Consortium. The agreement is effective from the date that the agreement is signed and will terminate when SS Consortium has fully discharged its responsibilities under the sale agreement or the SS Consortium's price proposal has not accomplished. Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd. is obliged to comply with certain conditions and pay fees for the project as stated in the agreement. 


Subsequently, on 26 December 2018, SS Consortium entered into a sales agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd. to sell Mobile Switching Office equipment. The agreement will terminate when SS Consortium has fully discharged its responsibilities under the sale agreement with CAT Telecom Public Co., Ltd.

q)
As at 31 December 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, is committed to a company relating to provide equipment, computer system and supporting software. The commitment will terminate when the subsidiary company completely deliver the equipment to the aforementioned company.

44.6
Litigation


The Company had been involved in provision of financial support and installation of telecommunication network system to the 13th the Bangkok - Asian Games Organizing Committee (BAGOC) in 1997, for instance by supporting on installation design of telecommunication network system including its equipment and providing financial support at Baht 190 million. However, the Company had encountered with financial difficulties during the massive economic downturn of the country in 1997 which had long term and continuous impacts to the Company. Therefore, the Company had negotiated to cancel such financial support because the Company had waived its rights to use many benefits made under the agreements during the competition games and the Committee further provided such benefits to other sponsors already. Hence, the Company was not liable for such financial support any longer. 

During the fourth quarter of 2010, BAGOC had submitted the matter in dispute to                    the Arbitration Institute requesting the Company to make payment of approximately Baht 332 million (Baht 190 million plus interest).

Subsequently, the Arbitration Institution completed examination of the evidence of both the Company and the Organizing Committee and on 22 August 2013 found in favour of the Company, on the grounds that the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand had submitted the matter in dispute more than 10 years after the dispute arose, meaning that the statute of limitations had already expired. However, on 27 November 2013, the Competition Management Committee and Sports Authority of Thailand submitted a petition to the Civil Court for the revocation of the arbitral award. 
On 29 August 2014, the Civil Court rescinded the Arbitration award, without ruling that the Company is obligated to make any payment to the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand. The Company filed an appeal on 28 November 2014, against the Civil Court’s judgment with the Supreme Court. On 23 January 2015, the Organizing committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand filed an appeal against the Civil Court’s judgment with the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court gave its verdict on 20 September 2016 revoking the arbitration award without ruling the Company to pay any debt to the Organising Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand.

On 23 November 2016, the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand lodged a request with the Arbitrator (old panel) requesting the Arbitrator to continue its consideration. On 10 February 2017, the Company filed a claim against the request of the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand. On 5 April 2017, the Company received a letter from the Arbitration Institution regarding the replacement of the Arbitrator who had withdrawn and the Company already appointed the Company’s Arbitrator on                13 September 2017. 


Subsequently, on 19 January 2018, the Arbitral Tribunal appointed a chairperson of the Arbitral Tribunal and dismissed the above claim. The Company filed an appeal against such order with the Civil Court on 16 February 2018. Subsequently, on 10 July 2018 the Court issued an order dismissing the Company’s appeal. The Company’s legal advisor has filed an appeal of the order of the Civil Court with the Supreme Court on 8 August 2018. During the filing and appeal, and until the Supreme Court issues a final judgment on the matter, the Arbitral tribunal has suspended consideration. 

Later on 11 July 2019, the Supreme Court upheld the ruling of the Civil Court. The Organizing committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand, then, declared such ruling to the Arbitral tribunal on 13 November 2019. Afterward, on 12 December 2019, the Arbitral tribunal, of black case No. 90/2553 and red case No. 67/2556, rendered an award in favor of the Organizing committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand that is the Company was obligated to make payment to the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand in the amount of approximately Baht 332 million plus interest on principal of Baht 190 million and the interest at the rate of 15 per cent per annum calculated from 21 October 2010 until fully paid.

The legal advisor of the Company is of the opinion that such award was not rendered in compliance with Arbitration Act B.E. 2545 and subsequently engaged the law firm to submit  a petition to the Civil Court for the revocation of the arbitral award within 15 March 2020.              It is expected the court proceedings will take no less than 2 years. It is believed that the Court will finally rule in favor of the Company and the Company shall not be liable to pay for such claim to the Organizing Committee and the Sports Authority of Thailand.

As of 31 December 2019, this case is under further court in proceedings.
45.
Fair value hierarchy
The Group had the assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value using different levels of inputs as follows:

	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements 

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Assets measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Held for trade investments  
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Equity instruments 
	16
	17
	-
	-
	16
	17

	Investment held-for-sale
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Equity instruments 
	5
	-
	-
	-
	5
	-

	Available-for-sale investments 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Equity instruments 
	15
	18
	-
	-
	15
	18

	Derivatives  
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Foreign currency forward contracts 
	-
	-
	-
	1
	-
	1

	Investment properties
	-
	-
	85
	84
	85
	84

	Land
	-
	-
	597
	579
	597
	579

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	

	Debentures 
	-
	-
	1,650
	2,000
	1,650
	2,000


	
	(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Assets measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Held for trade investments  
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Equity instruments 
	8
	9
	-
	-
	8
	9

	Land
	-
	-
	236
	242
	236
	242

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
	
	
	
	
	

	Debentures 
	-
	-
	1,250
	1,250
	1,250
	1,250


Valuation techniques and inputs to Level 2 valuations
 
The fair value of derivatives has been determined by using a discounted future cash flow model and a valuation model technique. Most of the inputs used for the valuation are observable in the relevant market, such as spot rates of foreign currencies, yield curves of the respective currencies, interest rate yield curves and commodity price yield curves. 

During the year, there were no transfers within the fair value hierarchy.

46.
Financial instruments

46.1
Financial risk management 


The Group’s financial instruments, as defined under Thai Accounting Standard No. 107 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”, principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, loans, investments, debentures, bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term loans. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.


Credit risk


The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable, loans and other accounts receivable. The Group manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures and therefore does not except to incur material financial losses. In addition, the majority of sales and services of the Group are supplied to creditworthy customers such as state enterprises and government agencies. In addition,           it has a large customer base. The Group does not anticipate material losses from its debt collection. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of receivables, loans and other receivables as stated in the statement of financial position. 

Interest rate risk


The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk related primarily to its cash at banks, bank overdrafts, debentures, short-term loans and long-term borrowings. However, since most of their financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate.


Significant financial assets and liabilities classified by type of interest rates are summarised in the table below, with those financial assets and liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date or the repricing date if this occurs before                   the maturity date. 

(Units: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Fixed interest rates
	Floating
	
	

	
	Within 1 year
	Over 1 - 5 years
	interest rate
	Non-interest bearing
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Financial Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	311
	867
	-
	-
	1,276
	1,370
	328
	434
	1,915
	2,671

	Fixed deposit
	597
	60
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	597
	60

	Current investments 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	21
	17
	21
	17

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	4,255
	3,974
	4,255
	3,974

	Finance lease receivables
	123
	118
	161
	274
	-
	-
	-
	-
	284
	392

	Short-term loans
	-
	-
	-
	-
	12
	12
	-
	-
	12
	12

	Restricted bank deposits  
	249
	235
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	249
	235

	Available-for-sale investments 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	15
	18
	15
	18

	Total
	1,280
	1,280
	161
	274
	1,288
	1,382
	4,619
	4,443
	7,348
	7,379

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from financial institutions
	4,157
	1,290
	-
	-
	2,385
	4,511
	-
	-
	6,542
	5,801

	Trust receipts
	-
	-
	-
	-
	655
	464
	-
	-
	655
	464

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	2,054
	2,350
	2,054
	2,350

	Short-term loans from unrelated parties 
	22
	22
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	22
	22

	Debentures
	1,650
	750
	-
	1,250
	-
	-
	-
	-
	1,650
	2,000

	Long-term loans from financial institutions
	-
	-
	-
	-
	2,451
	3,223
	-
	-
	2,451
	3,223

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	12
	14
	24
	32
	-
	-
	-
	-
	36
	46

	Total
	5,841
	2,076
	24
	1,282
	5,491
	8,198
	2,054
	2,350
	13,410
	13,906


(Units: Million Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Fixed interest rates
	Floating
	
	

	
	Within 1 year
	Over 1 - 5 years
	interest rate
	Non-interest bearing
	Total

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	Financial Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	91
	104
	1
	6
	92
	110

	Current investments 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	8
	9
	8
	9

	Trade and other receivables
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	347
	141
	347
	141

	Short-term loans 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	298
	713
	-
	-
	298
	713

	Total
	-
	-
	-
	-
	389
	817
	356
	156
	745
	973

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from financial institution
	1,630
	1,290
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	1,630
	1,290

	Trade and other payables
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	151
	241
	151
	241

	Short-term loans from related parties 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	347
	670
	-
	-
	347
	670

	Debentures 
	1,250
	-
	-
	1,250
	-
	-
	-
	-
	1,250
	1,250

	Long-term loans from related parties
	-
	-
	-
	-
	36
	36
	-
	-
	36
	36

	Liabilities under finance lease agreements
	6
	9
	4
	12
	-
	-
	-
	-
	10
	21

	Total
	2,886
	1,299
	4
	1,262
	383
	706
	151
	241
	3,424
	3,508



Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises mainly from trading transactions and loans that are denominated in foreign currencies.  The subsidiary company seeks to reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate. Generally, the forward contracts mature within one year.



The Group has significant foreign currency assets and liabilities that were unhedged against foreign exchange risk, as summarised below.

	Foreign currency
	Consolidated                           financial statements
	Separate                                      financial statements
	Exchange rate as at                          31 December                     

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	
	(Million)
	(Million)
	(Million)
	(Million)
	(Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	US dollar
	8
	11
	1
	-
	29.9767
	32.2848

	Australian dollar 
	2
	-
	-
	-
	20.6800
	-

	Yen 
	-
	26
	-
	-
	-
	0.2892

	Euro 
	-
	1
	-
	-
	-
	36.7620

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	US dollar
	6
	78
	12
	12
	30.3313
	32.6148

	Swiss franc 
	1
	2
	-
	-
	30.6267
	33.2639

	Yen 
	-
	26
	-
	-
	-
	0.2970


As at 31 December 2019, Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Samart Transolutions Co., Ltd.”), a subsidiary company whose functional currency is USD, has the following significant financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (currencies other than US Dollars).

	Foreign currency
	Consolidated                       financial statements
	Average exchange rate                   as at 31 December

	
	2019
	2018
	2019
	2018

	
	(Million)
	(Million)
	(USD per 1 foreign currency unit)

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Baht
	153
	46
	0.0334
	0.0310

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	

	Baht
	12
	4
	0.0330
	0.0307



As at 31 December 2019, Samart Digital Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, had the following outstanding forward exchange contracts:
	31 December 2019

	Foreign currency
	Consolidated                           financial statements
	Contractual exchange rate
	Contractual maturity date

	
	(Million)
	(Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
	

	Bought amount
	
	
	

	US dollar
	1.5
	30.1800 - 30.3625
	April 2020

	31 December 2018

	Foreign currency
	Consolidated                           financial statements
	Contractual exchange rate
	Contractual maturity date

	
	(Million)
	(Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
	

	Bought amount
	
	
	

	US dollar
	4.3
	32.2550 - 32.5441
	March 2019 - June 2019

	Sold amount
	
	
	

	US dollar
	1.1
	32.5075
	April 2019


46.2
Fair values of financial instruments


Since the majority of the Group’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or loan to/from and debenture bear floating interest rate, their fair value is not expected to be materially different from the amount presented in the statement of financial position.

47.

Capital management


The primary objective of the Group’ capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate capital structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. As at                31 December 2019, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio was 2.98:1 (2018: 3.34:1) and the Company’s was 0.53:1 (2018: 0.54:1). 

48.
Events after the reporting period

48.1
On 25 February 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors Meeting passed the following resolutions:
1.
Approving the payment of dividend in respect of profit for the year 2019 of Baht 0.15 per share, or a total of Baht 151.0 million, to its shareholders. The Company is to pay dividend on 22 May 2020. Such dividend will be recorded in the second quarter of 2020. However, the right to receive dividend payment is uncertain until it is approved by the 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
2.
Approving the allotment of ordinary shares of Samart Aviation Solutions Public Co., Ltd. (SAV) to existing shareholders of the Company in accordance with the proportion of their shareholding in the Company for the amount of not exceeding 10,065,039 shares, with the right ratio of 100 SAMART’s shares to 1 SAV’s share.

48.2
On 25 February 2020, a Board of Directors meeting of Samart Telcoms Public Company Limited, a subsidiary company, passed a resolution approving the payment of dividend in respect of profit for the year 2019 of Baht 0.52 per share, or a total of Baht 321.4 million, to its shareholders. The subsidiary company paid an interim dividend of Baht 0.20 per share,     a total of Baht 123.6 million, in September 2020, and is to pay the remaining Baht 0.32 per share, or a total of Baht 197.8 million, on 20 May 2020. Such dividend will be recorded in the second quarter of 2020. However, the right to receive dividend payment is uncertain until it is approved by the 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
48.3
On 7 February 2020, the meeting of the Board of Directors of Samart Digital Media Company Limited, a subsidiary company, passed a resolution to accept a tender offer to purchase all shares of Siam Sport Syndicate Plc. for 29,150,379 shares with a price of Baht 0.17 per share, totaling Baht 4.95 million. This was because Siam Sport Syndicate Plc. is currently in the process for delisting the securities of its company from the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The subsidiary company received full settlement of such securities on                     20 February 2020.

48.4
On 24 February 2020, the meeting of the Board of Directors of One to One Contacts Public Co., Ltd., a subsidiary company, passed a resolution approving the following.
1.
To approve the payment of a dividend in respect of profit for the year 2019 of Baht 0.13 per share, or a total of Baht 36.4 million, to its shareholders. The subsidiary company paid an interim dividend of Baht 0.03 per share, or a total of Baht 8.4 million, in September 2019, and is to pay the remaining of Baht 0.10 per share, or a total of Baht 28.0 million, on 20 May 2020. Such dividend will be recorded in the second quarter of 2020. However, the right to receive dividend payment is uncertain until it is approved by the 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
2.
To approve an increase in the share capital of One to One Professional Co., Ltd., another subsidiary company, from Baht 2 million (200,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) to Baht 5 million (500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each) through an issuance of additional 300,000 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each. Presently, there is under shares registration process.

49.
Reclassification

The Group reclassified certain amounts in the financial statements for the year ended                      31 December 2018 to conform to the current period’s classification with no effect to previously reported profit or shareholders’ equity. The reclassifications were as follows:

	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	As previously reported
	Reclassified
	As reclassified

	Statement of financial position as at 


31 December 2018
	
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	

	Trade and other receivables
	4,016,877
	(43,257)
	3,973,620

	Other current assets
	1,788,511
	(28,894)
	1,759,617

	Other non-current assets - Deposits
	48,965
	28,894
	77,859

	Liabilities 
	
	
	

	Accrued project cost
	1,142,316
	(43,257)
	1,099,059

	
	
	
	

	Statement of cash flows for the year ended

 
31 December 2018
	
	
	

	Operating liabilities (increase) decrease
	
	
	

	Other current assets
	98,351
	28,894
	127,245

	Other non-current assets
	(69,133)
	(28,894)
	(98,027)


50.
Approval of financial statements


These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s authorised Directors on 25 February 2020.
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